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£5.5m
Perth Harbour are helping 
to contribute

to the Scottish economy 

OUR VISION
To continue to grow as 
a recognised leading 
international transport 
infrastructure and logistics 
services group.
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CHAIRMAN’S OVERVIEW
This past year has been extremely challenging for 
all of us. As the Covid-19 pandemic continued to 
impact the country, we had to completely change 
the way in which we delivered lifeline services across 
Scotland’s west coast and islands.

David MacBrayne faced many pressures. Islanders 
who were concerned about growing infection 
levels on the mainland looked to us to help prevent 
Covid-19 spreading to their communities. At 
the same time, we were responsible for keeping 
lifeline links open so that essential goods could 
be delivered, and key workers could travel, while 
simultaneously protecting the health and wellbeing 

of our staff.

Restrictions on travel 
were gradually relaxed, 
however, the pressures 
remained. Scottish 
Government rules on 
physical distancing 
meant ferries could 
run with only a third 
of the usual capacity, 
but demand for spaces 
quickly rose, leaving 
many customers 
disappointed. During the 

pandemic, the Company received much appreciated 
financial support through a Clyde and Hebrides 
Ferry Services (CHFS) Contract Variation from 
Transport Scotland.

I am so proud of the way in which our staff rose 
up to those challenges in the face of lockdowns 
and lengthy travel restrictions. On behalf of the 
DML Board, I want them to know how much we 
appreciate the demanding work they put in to 
ensure that services continued to be provided. 
They have always stepped up and through them, 
we remain a lifeline to the communities we serve. 
No matter what happens, they would do what they 
could to get the ferries to and from the islands.

I also want to thank the communities we serve. They 
are a vital part of our Company, and we appreciate 
their support and understanding.

We continue to work closely with Transport Scotland 
and Ministers as they draw up a long-term strategy 
for the ferry service. The Board will play an important 
part in this to ensure the improvements meet the 
needs of the network and the communities we 
serve. Within this year, we paid a dividend of £5 
million to the shareholder, the Scottish Government. 
It was only right that because of a good financial 
performance, we were able to contribute to Scottish 
government funding at a challenging time.

Our work with the Ferries Community Board (Clyde 
and Hebrides) continues to evolve and develop. It 
provides an excellent way for us to engage with, and 
listen to the needs of our communities, and at the 
same time, its members can have their say in the 
service and how it operates.

I shall be retiring as Chair of David MacBrayne 
Limited in November 2021. I joined the Board in 
2006 as a Non-Executive Director, was appointed as 
Deputy Chair in 2009, and succeeded to the role of 
Chair in 2012, a post which I have held since.

I would also like to thank my fellow Non Executive 
Directors, Jim Stirling and Stephen Hagan who are 
also retiring in November 2021, for their valued 
contribution over the years. 

It has been a privilege and pleasure to 
work with such a great Company with 
dedicated and wonderful staff.

I wish the Company well as it faces 
the challenges ahead.

 
David McGibbon 
Chairman 
DML Board

“It has been a privilege 
and pleasure to work with 
such a great Company with 
dedicated and wonderful 
staff.” 
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FOR-SHEALLADH A’ 
CHATHRAICHE
B’ e bliadhna shònraichte dhùbhlanach a bha seo 
dhuinn uile. Mar a lean buaidh mòr-ghalar Covid 19 
air an dùthaich, b’ fheudar dhuinne tur atharrachadh 
a thoirt air an dòigh san robh sinn a’ lìbhrigeadh 
sheirbheisean riatanach thar cladach agus eileanan 
an iar Alba. 

Bha iomadh uallach air Dàibhidh Mac a’ Bhruthainn. 
Bha eileanaich a bha draghail mu ìre fàis 
gabhaltachd tinneis air tìr-mòr, a’ coimhead rinne 
gus cuideachadh Covid 19 a chumail gun sgapadh 
chun nan coimhearsnachdan acasan. Aig an aon 
àm ‘s a bha sinn a’ dìon slàinte agus sunnd ar 
luchd-obrach, bha dleastanas oirnn ceanglaichean 
riatanach a chumail fosgailte ach an gabhadh bathar 
deatamach a lìbhrigeadh, agus comas siubhail a 
ghleidheadh dha prìomh luchd-obrach.

Chaidh cuingealachaidhean-siubhail a lùghdachadh 
beag air bheag, ach lean uallaichean. Dh’fhàg 
riaghailtean Riaghaltas na h-Alba, a thaobh 
astarachadh dhaoine bho chèile, nach b’ urrainn 
dha aiseagan ach trian den cuid comais àbhaisteach 
a ghiùlan, ach dh’fhàs iarrtas siubhail agus fhuair 
mòran luchd-cleachdaidh briseadh-dùil. Tron 
mhòr-ghalar bha a’ Chompanaidh gu mòr an comain 
Còmhdhail Alba airson taic maoineachaidh tro 
Atharrachadh Cùmhnant Sheirbheisean Chluaidh is 
Innse Gall (CSCIG).

Tha mi cho moiteil às an dòigh san do choinnich ar 
luchd-obrach ris na dùbhlain sin mu choinneamh 
ghlasaidhean agus chuingealachaidhean-siubhail 
fada. Às leth Bòrd DMacB, tha mi airson gun tuig iad 
cho uasal ‘s a tha sinn às an obair iarrtach a rinn iad 
gus dèanamh cinnteach gun leanadh lìbhrigeadh 
sheirbheisean. Daonnan deònach, ‘s ann tromhpa 
tha sinne a’ leantainn mar cheangal riatanach dha na 
coimhearsnachdan a tha sinn a’ frithealadh. ’S coma 
dè thachras, nì iad na ghabhas gus na h-aiseagan 
fhaotainn a dh’ionnsaigh nan eileanan, agus air ais.

Dh’iarrainn cuideachd taing a thoirt 
dha na coimhearsnachdan a tha sinn 
a’ seirbheiseachadh. Tha iad nam pàirt 
chudromach den Chompanaidh againn, agus 
tha sinn a’ cur luach air an taic is an tuigse.

Tha sinn a’ leantainn ag obair gu dlùth le 
Còmhdhail Alba agus Ministearan, fhad ’s a tha 
iad a’ dealbh innleachd fad-ùine airson seirbheis 
aiseagan. Bidh pàirt chudromach aig a’ Bhòrd 
san obair seo gus dearbhadh gun coilean na 
leasachaidhean feumalachdan an lìonra agus nan 
coimhearsnachdan a tha sinn a’ frithealadh. Anns a’ 
bhliadhna seo phàigh sinn earrann de chòig millean 
not dhan neach-earrann, Riaghaltas na h-Alba. 
A’ leantainn deagh choileanadh ionmhasail bha e 
iomchaidh gun d’ rachadh againn air cur ri maoin 
riaghaltas na h-Alba aig àm duilich.

Tha an obair againn an lùib Bòrd 
Choimhearsnachdan Aiseagan (Chluaidh is Innse 
Gall) a’ leantainn is a’ leasachadh. ’S e f ìor dhòigh 
a th’ ann dhuinne ceangal a chumail le ar cuid 
choimhearsnachdan agus èisteachd rin cuid 
feumalachdan, agus aig an aon àm beachd fhaotainn 
bhuapa air an t-seirbheis agus mar a tha sin ag obair.

Bidh mise a’ leigeil dhìom dreuchd Cathraiche 
Dhaibhidh Mac a’ Bhruthainn Earranta san 
t-Samhain 2021. Ghabh mi air a’ Bhòrd ann an 
2006 mar Stiùiriche Neo-Ghnìomha; chaidh 
mo thaghadh mar Iar-Chathraiche ann an 
2009, agus mar Chathraiche ann an 2012, is 
tha mi air a bhith san dreuchd bhon uairsin.

Bu mhath leam taing a thoirt dha mo dhithis Cho-
Stiùirichean Neo-Ghnìomha, Seumas Stirling agus 
Stefan Hagan, airson an cuid obrach luachmhor tro 
na bliadhnaichean agus a tha cuideachd a’ fàgail a’ 
Bhùird san t-Samhain.

B’ e urram agus tlachd a bh’ ann obrachadh cuide 
ri sàr Chompanaidh agus luchd-obrach dìcheallach 
agus mìorbhaileach. 

Tha mi a’ guidhe soirbheachadh dhan Chompanaidh 
an aghaidh nan dùbhlan roimhpe.

Daibhidh MacGiobain 
Cathraiche  
Daibhidh Mac a’ Bhruthainn Earr.



10 DAVID MACBRAYNE ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Strategic Report

at Perth Harbour are helping to contribute £5.5m to 
the Scottish economy, as well as a total of 74 jobs 
nationally, according to the report.

Solent Gateway Limited, which was formed in 2016, 
is a joint venture between David MacBrayne Limited 
(DML) and GBA (Holdings) Limited to develop 
and manage the Ministry of Defence’s Marchwood 
military port. The development of Marchwood Port is 
a unique opportunity in the Solent region to develop 
a very high-quality port-centric logistic hub with 
excellent connectivity by sea, rail, and road.

We continue to develop further as a Scottish 
company, which supports and aligns with the 
economic and environmental ambitions of the 
Scottish Government. Part of this ambition is to 
compete nationally and internationally to ensure 
a long-term, sustainable future for the livelihood 
of the Scottish maritime industry. DML welcomes 
the opportunity to help make Scotland a global 
leader in renewable energy and we remain alert 
to opportunities to contribute to the building of 
sustainable rural and island communities.

On behalf of the Board…

Duncan Mackison 
Chief Executive 
3 November 2021

Strategic Report
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
STATEMENT 
Welcome to the David MacBrayne annual report 
2020/21. It is fair to state that this year has been 
one of the most challenging and difficult periods in 
the history of the Group. The Covid-19 pandemic 
has continued to have an overwhelming effect on 
communities and a significant impact on our ability 
to serve them, while vessel breakdowns have also 
caused much disruption.

Operating during the Covid-19 pandemic has been 
extremely challenging and difficult at times. It 
has placed enormous pressure on both staff and 
customers, and we recognise the problems that it 
has caused. As always, we have received fantastic 
support from our 
customers, and I am 
immensely grateful 
for their continued 
understanding 
during these tough 
times. Despite these 
challenges, we have 
remained focused 
on the immediate 
tasks of meeting our 
commitments and 
delivering a lifeline 
service across the 
network.

We take the responsibilities of delivering a 
reliable and resilient ferry service seriously and 
we were given the opportunity to highlight this in 
2019, when the Rural Economy and Connectivity 
Committee held an inquiry into the construction and 
procurement of ferry vessels in Scotland. The remit 
of this inquiry was to identify and address current 
and future challenges and opportunities in the 
procurement of new vessels to support Scotland’s 
ferries network.

As part of this work, the Committee agreed 
to consider the updated timetable and costs 
associated with the completion of vessels 801 
and 802 by the Ferguson Marine shipyard, which 
was subsequently taken into public ownership in 
December 2019.

The Committee took evidence as part of their 
inquiry between January and March 2020, and we 
were pleased to be able to assist it with its work by 
providing both oral and written evidence. 

It published its final report regarding the cost and 
timetable for completion of vessels 801 and 802 and 
broader aspects of ferries policy in December 2020 
and the Scottish Government issued its response 
to the Committee’s inquiry report in January 2021. 
As part of its response to the report’s findings, 
the Scottish Government commissioned ‘Project 
Neptune’, which is currently reviewing the structural 
arrangements which operate between Transport 
Scotland, Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited 
(CMAL) and CalMac Ferries Limited.

We very much welcome this work and have actively 
engaged with those 
producing the report 
and our colleagues in 
Transport Scotland and 
CMAL. We look forward 
to seeing the outcomes 
of this review when it is 
complete and are open 
to any recommendations 
that may arise from it.

Delivering the current 
Clyde and Hebrides Ferry 
Services (CHFS) contract 

is our priority and we are committed to bidding 
for the next CHFS contract. There is potential for 
DML to grow beyond this, and we are considering 
opportunities to expand into further ferry services, 
port and harbour management, ship management 
and offshore wind operations. We believe that these 
are good opportunities which suit our capabilities, 
and we are open to the right ones which would 
sit comfortably alongside our primary focus of 
delivering the CHFS contract.

Our other contracts continue to progress. Perth 
Harbour is proving to be a real success story. A 
recent external economic impact report reveals 
that, since David MacBrayne Limited (DML) took 
over Harbour operations in 2018, there has been 
a 25% increase in shipments and cargo using the 
facility. This figure is expected to increase as market 
opportunities continue to grow. Business activities 



12 DAVID MACBRAYNE ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Background and History Company Structure

DAVID MACBRAYNE ANNUAL REPORT 2021  13

BACKGROUND  
AND HISTORY
David MacBrayne Limited 
(DML) is one of the largest 
logistics companies 
in Scotland. A multi-
award-winning ferry 
operator, harbour, and 
it is one of Scotland’s 
biggest headquartered 
firms employing around 
1,700 people.
DML, through its main subsidiary company CalMac 
Ferries Limited (CFL), which delivers the Clyde and 
Hebrides Ferry Service and Perth Harbour contract, 
transports more than five million passengers in an 
average year and operates 26 ports within the UK. 
During 2021, services were significantly impacted by 
the Covid-19 pandemic.

Through a 50/50 Joint Venture with GBA (Holdings) 
Limited, DML also operate the Marchwood Port 
facility in Southampton.

1,700
people

DML is one of Scotland’s 
biggest headquartered 
firms employing around
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Caledonian MacBrayne has a long 
history stretching back more than  

160years

1851

1960

2017

Caledonian MacBrayne started 
life in 1851 as a steamer 
company under the name of 
David Hutcheson & Co.

From the sixties, 
improvements and 
refinements took place 
in order to complete the 
modern roll on-roll off 
ferry revolution.

Transport Scotland published an 
interim report into its Ferry Services 
Procurement Policy Review and a 
statement to Parliament was made 
advising that it was the Government’s 
desire not to put the next Clyde and 
Hebrides Ferry Services contract out 
to tender in 2024.

1870

1990

2018

The Hutcheson brothers 
retired leaving the firm in the 
hands of David MacBrayne and 
the company was renamed.

Caledonian MacBrayne threw 
off the umbrella of STG and 
became wholly owned by the 
Secretary of State for Scotland.

DML, which operates CalMac, the UK’s largest ferry 
operator, was appointed by Perth and Kinross Council in 
July 2018 to manage Perth Harbour for an initial period of 
five years with a possible two-year extension.

1914

2006

Following the Great War of 
1914–1918, David MacBrayne 
was forced to withdraw 
from mail routes to the 
islands and remote mainland 
communities.

Caledonian MacBrayne Ltd 
renamed as Caledonian 
Maritime Assets Ltd (CMAL) 
and a separate ferry 
operations company, CalMac 
Ferries Ltd, was created. 

1928

2007

Thanks to a rescue operation 
jointly with LMS Railway 
and Coast Lines Ltd, a new 
company was formed.

In 2007 the contract to provide 
services under the Clyde and 
Hebrides Ferry Service (CHFS) 
was awarded to CalMac Ferries 
Ltd for a period of six years.

1948

2016

1948 saw the 
nationalisation of the LMS 
shares in the company and 
the acquisition of the ships.

1n 2016 the bid submitted 
by CalMac Ferries Ltd had 
been successful and a 
6-year-contract awarded 
by Transport Scotland.

2019
COVID-19 brought it’s specific 
challenges to David MacBraynes 
operations...

2020
DML and CalMac’s future...

David MacBrayne Ltd House flag

Clyde River Steamer Club

Clyde River Steamer Club

Clyde River Steamer Club

Clyde River Steamer Club
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Wealthier

Fairer

Smarter

Healthier

Safer

Stronger

Greener 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

at the heart of 
our operation

efficient and effective operations 
offering value for money

deliver excellence in customer 
service, with customers at the 
heart of all we do

Safety

 Operational 
excellence

Customer  
focus

£

a socially responsible employer 
valuing and investing in our people

People

supporting sustainable communities by 
driving revenue and growth

Business 
growth

reduce our impact on the environment

Sustainability

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
DML provides transport and infrastructure 
services to communities, supporting the 
aims of the Scottish Government to provide 
a Wealthier, Fairer, Smarter, Healthier, 
Safer, Stronger and Greener Scotland, 
and to make a commercial return to our 
shareholder, the Scottish Ministers. 
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A Just Culture  
Engaging employees to embed even more firmly a 
‘safety first’ and continuous improvement approach 
in the workplace.

Digital Presence 
Re-imaging the DML digital presence through a 
new-look website and moving into other digital sales 
channels to reach customers and business partners, 
while also making the booking system a smoother 
experience.

Process Excellence 
Ensuring the DML management system policies, 
processes and procedures are scalable, meet 
international standards and support our ability to 
win and deliver new business. Simultaneously, they 
will be safety-centric and will deliver consistency, 
with a professional, quality ethos at their core.

Strategic Report
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DML’S KEY INITIATIVES TO DELIVER THIS 
STRATEGY INCLUDE:

Service Resilience
Service Resilience is one of DML’s key priorities, with 
a core challenge being the ageing fleet. We have a 
planned strategy for a replacement maintenance 
management system which will improve the 
management of engineering activity on the vessels 
and develop the engineering information to allow 
enhanced risk management, reducing vessel 
breakdowns. We are conducting a comprehensive 
condition assessment programme of the older 
Major Vessels which will enhance the normal 
maintenance and survey regime allowing condition 
based decisions to be made on any high risk areas 
to ensure overhaul and maintenance activity is 
targeted at reducing risk of technical incidents. Our 
Operational Excellence Programme will provide 
a benchmarking of our engineering management 
processes with a view to establishing industry best 
practice and highlighting areas for improvement 
in complex vessel engineering management; this 
activity and output will be prioritised towards safety, 
quality and service resilience. Other initiatives 
designed to improve service resilience include 
the development of a logistics hub to streamline 
the provision of parts and equipment, and 
improved supplier performance through improved 
engagement and relationship management.

New Ticketing System 
Implementation of the new system will provide a 
sleeker experience for customers when they make 
bookings, an easier way for staff to manage capacity 
on board the vessels, help employees to manage 
operations, and provide e-commerce opportunities.

HR Systems 
Development of a new learning system, crew 
scheduling, HR, and payroll systems. Helping our 
employees manage their own records and shifts 
while reducing both costs and the complexity of 
rostering crew on board our ships.
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Fiscal Year Passengers Cars Commercials Coaches

FY 2017/18 5,561,555 1,429,744 80,469 10,914

FY 2018/19 5,605,077 1,439,619 78,878 10,804

FY 2019/20 5,533,751 1,450,325 79,612 10,876

FY 2020/21 2,059,331 755,602 69,868 1,223

CSAT (Customer Satisfaction) score 2021: 

Our 87% CSAT (Customer Satisfaction) score is 
derived from regularly surveying our customers 
about their onboard experience. The score has held 
up well in a year with many challenges where our 
customers have experienced safety mitigations due 
to Covid-19, disruption, capacity restrictions and a 
reduced retail offering. In addition to CSAT we review 
and measure other metrics which are indicators of 
customer satisfaction such as ‘trust’ and ‘ease of 
journey’. One constant theme which has emerged 
through feedback has been customers’ comments 
on the warm and welcoming nature of our skilled 
frontline teams whilst maintaining a professional and 
safety focused approach.

Financial Performance Highlights
Group Revenue £198.7m down £26m – diagram 
below shows analysis of external revenues. 

 - Fares revenue reduced by £26.8m (46%)

 - Retail revenue reduced by £8.0m (90%)

Cost of Sales £168.4m down £20.2m

Administrative Expenditure £25.3m down £7.7m

Strategic Report
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GROUP PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW
COVID-19 RESPONSE
The impact of Covid-19 seriously impacted CHFS 
services and has been an incredibly difficult 
period for the country, the communities we serve, 
our customers and our staff. At the start of the 
pandemic, we introduced an essential service 
timetable which maintained a lifeline service to our 
communities.

As the pandemic evolved, we took quick and brave 
decisions to continually change our services in 
line with rapidly changing guidance to keep staff 
and passengers safe. Our risk measures were 
independently assessed by DNV (Det Norske 
Veritas), which is an independent expert in 

assurance and risk management and the world’s 
leading classification society for the marine 
industry. We were also the first UK ferry company 
to be awarded their Covid-Care accreditation in 
recognition of the strength of our response.

We operated lifeline services throughout the 
pandemic, enabling essential travel and support for 
our communities, with all our staff demonstrating 
commitment to our CalMac values of putting people 
first, bravery and acting in the best interests of the 
places we serve.

We received additional Covid-19 funding in the year 
of £22.8m from Transport Scotland as a variation 
to our Clyde and Hebrides Ferry contract and £1.1m 
of furlough funding through HMRC. We remain 
incredibly grateful for the public funding which 
enabled us to protect jobs, staff who needed to 
isolate and the continuity of our services.

KPIs 
CHFS Reliability and Punctuality 2020 and 2021

Fiscal Year Contractual Reliability % Contractual Punctuality % Operated Sailings

FY 2019/20 99.58% 99.69% 159,888

FY 2020/21 99.58% 99.89% 117,039

CHFS Carryings 2018 to 2021
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3 43

30 11

20 23

30

Fleet Key statistics 
(February 2021) 

years old (Carvoria) years old (Isle of 
Cumbrae)

years old (26% of 
the fleet)

vessels will be

years old or greater 
(65% of the fleet) years old 

Youngest vessel is Oldest vessel is

Nine vessels are By the end of 2021,

22 vessels are In 2021 the average 
age of the fleet was

years or older 
(32%, or a third of 
the fleet)

Group Profit
Farebox, Retail and Other Revenue
The Covid-19 pandemic significantly impacted the 
delivery of services and income during this financial 
year, with farebox revenues of £31.4m (2020: 
£58.2m), retail revenues £0.9m (2020: £8.9m) and 
other income £9.5m (2020: £8.7m). 

We received funding from Transport Scotland 
of £22.8m, due to the impact of Covid-19 on our 
revenues and services as a CHFS contract variation. 

Cost of Sales and Administrative 
Expenditure
Direct expenditure was also reduced as travel 
restrictions were enforced and both services and 
carryings reduced significantly. The reduction to 
service levels and timetable directly impacted fuel 
and harbour dues expenditure. Administrative 
expenses during 2020 included a one-off 
contribution to the CalMac pension fund of £4.6m, 
funded by Transport Scotland via CHFS contract 
Variation, and which did not recur during 2021.

The Group reported a net profit after tax of £2.7m.

Balance Sheet
The net asset position of the Group at March 2021 is 
£29.0m (2020: £22.9m), an increase of £6.1m. This 
includes the positive valuation of the fuel hedge at 31 
March 2021 (£1.3m asset), compared with 31 March 
2020 (£7.1m liability) which reflects the volatility of 
the marine fuel market each year.

The cash position of the Group at 31 March 
2021 is £22.2m (2020 £38.1m). The higher 
balance last year reflects the early receipt of 
CHFS monthly contractual income received 
during March 2020. Payments during 2021 
were in line with contractual cashflows.

Dividend
The Group paid a dividend to the Shareholder in 
October 2020 of £5.0m.

SERVICE RESILIENCE
All 34 vessels had a successful annual overhaul 
at four yards. As of 1 January 2021, a new, long-
term contract for the provision of annual vessel 
overhaul and breakdown support came into effect 
with our strategic yard suppliers. The contract 
provides a long-term approach and will improve the 
preparation, collaboration, and planning for these 
complex activities.

In 2020/21, we delivered a £7.3m programme of 
investment on behalf of Transport Scotland via 
CMAL, to address vessel resilience. The programme 
included replacing equipment which is either 
obsolete or at the end of economic life and 
upgrades of equipment to improve environmental 
performance and reliability. This programme also 
involved replacing equipment where required to 
support changes in certification requirements.

The work was important, extensive, and included 
replacing main engines and generators, upgrading 
lifesaving equipment, improving lighting to modern 
LED formats, replacing end of life batteries, 
replacing electrical cabling, and upgrading 
navigation and communications equipment.

We have invested 
in a new logistics 
hub and centre 
of excellence 
to support the 
technical supply 
chain needs of 
the business. 
The new 
facilities provide 
increased 
space, improve 
our processes, 
and increase 
efficiency in the supply of technical parts to vessels 
in service, during breakdowns and for planned 
annual overhauls. Regular forums have also been 
introduced with our suppliers to improve our 
technical supply chain management. Underpinning 
all of this is our investment in our people – helping 
them to achieve formal accreditation in logistics 
management.

To support the daily management of vessels, we 
have introduced a defect reporting management 
system. It provides an online, easy to use facility 
to log and update status on emerging defects. 
Reporting has been enhanced and allows us 
to identify trends and guides our preventative 
maintenance activity. We have also begun the 
preparation and design works for the £2.2m 
investment programme for the MV Argyle Flyer 
and MV Ali Cat, supported by Transport Scotland, 
and successfully introduced the MV Chieftain 
(Gourock - Kilcreggan) into the fleet. In addition, 
we have completed our first overhaul season using 
data from our new vibration analysis system on key 
components of major vessels.

Our core challenge remains the ageing fleet. 
However, we are confident that through a 
planned strategy for a replacement maintenance 
management system, enhanced support for our 
people through engagement forums, development 
and training, we can drive further efficiencies to 
support and maintain our fleet.

OUR PEOPLE AND STAFF ENGAGEMENT
Engagement has been a challenge due to the 
constraints Covid-19 placed on the ability of 
senior teams to travel across the network and to 
meet colleagues face to face, however modern 
technologies have enabled us to connect with 
colleagues remotely. Nonetheless, we put in place 
initiatives aimed at achieving our objective of 75% of 
staff saying they would recommend the organisation 
as a great place to work, compared with 62% in our 
2019 staff survey.

The “Our People” project was set up to drive and 
measure activity across areas of building trust, 
supportive management, developing a positive and 
inclusive culture and driving a one-team approach.

Early activity involved a video featuring colleagues 
from across our network, reminding us of our 
heritage, the spirit on which the Company was 
founded, and the legacy entrusted to us. This was a 
means of sharpening our focus on our core values of 
people first, bravery and locality, our responsibilities 
to adapt and change, and our need to connect and 
communicate with each other.

Achievements included the establishment of an 
‘Inclusive CalMac’ group and a ‘Wellbeing’ group, 
both involving colleagues from all areas of our 
business. This will be followed in the coming year 
with a People Steering Group, providing a forum 
where new initiatives can be discussed openly and 
tested, to ensure they land well throughout the 
organisation.
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Our People

Disruptions are really difficult, especially in the last 
year, we’ve had a lot of disruptions with Covid. It 
can be difficult as customers can get frustrated, 
understandably so. You’ve just got to try and all 
work together to get them rebooked and provide 
information where you can. When I was a child, I 
relied on the ferry to get home from school on a 
Friday night and so when you do get parents coming 
through, you can totally emphasise with them. You 
don’t want a kid to not be able to travel home so we 
will always do our best. 

CalMac is a lifeline service for communities. One 
of the best days in my role was when all the Covid 
restrictions eased last year, and we re–started 
bookings. It was also one of the busiest days, but 

everyone was able to travel again, and everyone was 
in a good mood that day.

Working at CalMac is like being part of an extended 
family.

Our People
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1,120
We are contacted by 
approximately

passengers each day

CalMac is a lifeline service for 
communities. One of the best 
days in my role was when all the 
Covid restrictions eased last year, 
and we re–started bookings. It 
was also one of the busiest days, 
but everyone was able to travel 
again, and everyone was in a 
good mood that day.

Working at CalMac is like being 
part of an extended family.

EILEEN CARMICHAEL 
CUSTOMER SERVICE 
Eileen Carmichael is based 
within the customer contact 
centre at the Head Office of 
CalMac in Gourock.
“I’ve worked for the company since March 2019 
and my role is to ensure all customers have the 
best experience they possibly can. We answer lots 
of customer calls, do ticketing and reservations, 
make customer bookings, amend bookings, process 
refunds, add pet tickets on to reservations, answer 

emails, so that we can provide customers with the 
best information.

We like to go the extra mile for the customer. So 
although we only work for the ferry contact centre, 
we are also asked for advice about lots of different 
things such as nice hotels, taxis, buses etc. If we can, 
we work it out for them and make their journey more 
seamless – that’s the most important thing for us.

Our customers are a mix of people. People who 
travel all the time, tourists who have never been to 
Scotland and never travelled on a ferry, and then 
you get the businesses that travel frequently. 

I grew up on Lismore and used to travel over to Oban 
to school on a Monday and then travel back on a 
Friday and that’s how most islanders do it. With our 
experience, it creates that empathy, especially with 
disruptions, as you’ve been there – you know what 
it’s like for a sailing to be cancelled. 
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OUR CUSTOMERS
To improve our customers’ experience, there have 
been some exciting achievements through our 
investment in technology.

Ticketing and Reservations
We are implementing a new modern booking, 
ticketing and travel experience via the Ar Turas (Our 
Journey) project. This will provide a streamlined and 
efficient booking experience for customers, available 
through different channels. 

The solution will be standardised, accessible, 
digitally-enabled and efficient, and will maximise 
available, bookable space on our ferries and provide 
better travel information. 

The new technology with will enable the business to 
use market-leading software to help us standardise 
and simplify our processes, in line with best practice.

The Digital Refresh Project
We are in the process of developing a new-look 
website and a new CFL App. These will help 
customers plan and book their journeys much more 
quickly and easily.

Network Improvement Project (WIFI)
Our teams have been working over the last year to 
upgrade our network connectivity including Wi-
Fi and continue to upgrade our port and vessel 
infrastructure. The upgraded Wi-Fi system will 
use the 4G mobile network to support improved 
connectivity for our customers and staff, creating 
a better onboard experience. Upgrading our port 
and vessel infrastructure directly supports the new 
ticketing and reservations system enabling both 
customers and staff an improved and  
seamless experience.

Oran Mor project – Retail Stock 
Management System
We have a new inventory management system 
known as ‘Saffron.’ This allows our teams 
to manage and order stock in a timely and 
targeted way. The new system aims to help us 
increase onboard revenue by providing better 
insight – meaning we can plan effectively, 
improve availability, and grow sales.

Custellence – Our New Journey  
Mapping Tool
This tool allows us to map out our end-to-end 
customer experience by using a collaborative 
and intuitive platform. The new platform replaces 
the previous MS Excel approach. It is web based 
and supports the business by way of gap analysis 
and issue identification, with the ability to create 
signature actions to support improvements.

Strategic Report
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CHANGE AND CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT
We are embarking on a major programme to improve 
performance across the business. To achieve the 
greatest value from this investment, we have recruited 
Change Management and Continuous Improvement 
experts to help set up the required processes and 
systems. The aim is to establish a culture in which 
the business continually improves and with the full 
commitment of all members of staff. 

Through this approach, we will help to standardise 
change and improvement methods and strengthen 
leadership training within these areas. Dedicated 
resources will also be embedded into key projects, 
ensuring we are ready and prepared for new processes 
and behaviours.

One of our ambitions is to embed a change and 
continuous improvement mindset at the heart 
of everything we do. As part of this work, we will 
continue to develop our change framework and 
establish practices across the company to help make 
continuous improvement a standardised way of 
working. Supporting our staff will be a central part 
of this work, and we will deliver training, coaching 
and support to help build our collective skills and 
capabilities in this area. New change networks and 
communities of practice will underpin this and help 
drive innovation across the organisation. 
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COMMUNITIES
DML is committed to engaging openly and effectively 
with local communities. Listening to views and 
opinions from the people who live and work in 
communities where we provide a lifeline service 
helps us to gather valuable input, which shapes the 
way in which we deliver services.

We engage with communities both formally and 
informally. As well as working closely with ferry 
committees and ferry stakeholder groups, we 
are in close contact with local councils and local 
businesses. During the Pandemic we have continued 
to work closely with the Community Board with 
regular meetings attended by our Managing Director. 
The Community Board have been a valuable addition 
to our community engagement. 

When the Covid-19 pandemic hit, this prompted 
a change in the way we communicated with our 
island-based customers. During this period, we 
were unable to travel across the network to attend 
meetings, and so we were confined to virtual 
events. Normal channels of engagement with all 
stakeholders changed and adapted accordingly, and 
we worked harder to communicate more frequently, 
particularly with ferry stakeholder groups, local 
authorities and resilience and social care partners.

Many decisions affecting travel in Scotland 
during the pandemic were made at a national 
level, which we then implemented, all the 
while ensuring essential services could 
continue, whilst helping to protect the islands 
and reduce the spread of infection.

Working with the communities we serve will always 
be important to us. We will continue to be present 
through our work with learning and development 
partners via our popular modern apprenticeship 
programme where the 2021 intake included 16 
employees from local communities, and through 
career progression events. We are an active 
employer within the communities we serve with 
432 of our employees residing on the islands.

We are active supporters of destination 
marketing and tourism sector events, 
economic forums, community events, 
sporting fixtures and environmental forums. 
We sponsor awards and participate in many 
commercial and social interest activities.

ENVIRONMENT
During the year 2020/21, we redesigned our 
Environmental Strategy to align with the ambitions 
of both the UN Sustainable Development Goals and 
the Scottish Government’s 2020 Environmental 
Strategy.

The priority areas of the Strategy are Climate 
Action to reduce emissions from fuel combustion 
and energy consumption; Climate Action to 
prepare for climate change and manage climate 
risk; Responsible Consumption and Production to 
minimise waste and move towards circular economy 
thinking and Life under Water to protect biodiversity.

The Strategy is supported by an action plan which 
is being delivered by all areas of the business with 
environmental 
performance. 
Action delivery 
progress is 
being routinely 
reported 
internally.

To support our 
ambition to 
achieve gold 
status from 
Keep Scotland 
Beautiful at all 
our operated 
ports and harbours, we introduced a programme 
of litter audits. Routine, structured litter auditing is 
now undertaken at all our operated sites to ensure 
that we not only keep them clean and tidy, but that 
we understand the main litter sources and can act 
accordingly. Cigarette waste was the most observed 
litter type, and as a result, additional bins and 
signage have been installed.

The pandemic meant that marine mammal and 
marine bird surveys were not undertaken onboard. 
However, we have continued our relationship with 
the Wildlife Charity ORCA by supporting a Hebrides 
Wildlife Officer for the third year running. Training 
and educational materials have been developed, 
as well as new website content to help engage with 
prospective passengers and to continue to raise 
awareness of the biodiversity of western Scotland, 
with support from our Hebrides Wildlife Officer.

“Working with the 
communities we serve 
will always be important 
to us. We will continue to 
be present through our 
work with learning and 
development partners 
via our popular modern 
apprenticeship programme 
where the 2021 intake 
included 16 employees 
from local communities, 
and through career 
progression events.” 

“We have continued our 
relationship with the 
Wildlife Charity ORCA by 
supporting a Hebrides 
Wildlife Officer for the 
third year running.” 



MARCHWOOD PORT
Solent Gateway Limited (SGL) was formed in 
2016 and is a joint venture between DML and GBA 
(Holdings) Limited to develop and manage the port 
of Marchwood for 35 years.

SGL has unveiled ambitious plans to develop the 
facility into a high-quality port-centric logistic hub 
with excellent connectivity by sea, rail, and road.

The company has submitted a planning application 
on 06 August 2021 in line with Policy ECON 3 of the 
adopted New Forest District Council (NFDC) Local 
Plan, which allocates the site and port facility for 
more effective and efficient use for commercial, 
economic, and local employment reasons. 

The application seeks full planning for the 
first phase of development which includes a 
new site access/exit, delivery of the ecological 
mitigation plan, the first 20 hectares of newly 
developed open storage space to accommodate 
commercial port operations and other site-
wide enablers such as drainage and fencing.

It also seeks outline planning consent for the 
subsequent phases of development of further 
open and closed storage facilities. This maintains 
maximum flexibility to accommodate a range 
of clients, with those clients then going through 
a shorter planning process to receive their full 
planning consent for any facilities they would wish 
to construct.

SGL expects a NFDC determination by late 2021. In 
the meantime, SGL will run the competition to select 
the principal contractor for the development of the 
port, so the selected supplier is able to start the 
pre-construction phase as soon as planning consent 
is approved. This will enable physical construction 
to start in April 2022.
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PERTH HARBOUR
Since DML took over Perth Harbour operations in 
2018, there has been a 25% increase in shipments 
and cargo using the facility. This figure is expected to 
increase as market opportunities continue to grow.

Business activities at Perth Harbour are helping 
to contribute £5.5m to the Scottish economy as 
well as a total of 74 jobs regionally and nationally, 
according to an in-depth economic study by BiGGAR 
Economics.

The study also reported an increase in economic 
impact of 10% to Perth and Kinross since DML began 
operating the port – a figure predicted to continue 
to rise. The Harbour is also estimated to support 54 
jobs throughout the region.

The study measured Perth Harbour’s impact 
locally, regionally, and nationally. The Harbour 
has expanded market opportunities for many 
businesses, giving them access to cost-effective, 
high-quality imports and allowing exports of baryte, 
a commodity which is an important part of the 
supply-chain in the offshore oil and gas sector.

Cargo currently being transported through the 
harbour includes timber, for the construction 
industry, as well as fishmeal and soya protein for the 
aquaculture industry. The transportation of baryte 
for the oil and gas industry, is expected to resume 
later this year.

The main operators using the harbour are CalPort 
Ltd – this cargo handling and storage operator 
imports Perth’s fishmeal and soya to the port. They 
are looking at further growth of 12,000 tonnes in 
2021/22. Glenalmond Ltd – a company that handles 
the timber throughput at the port, for Stewart 
Milne Homes, and transport it across the length 
and breadth of Scotland. Kinnes Shipping Ltd – an 
organisation acting as the main shipping agent for 
the port, supporting the port’s marine shipping 
requirements.

The research also found that Perth Harbour makes 
a strong social contribution and is an important 
community resource for people living in the 
surrounding area. DML actively engages with 
children and young people through the River Tay 
Community Sports Hub and has helped to develop 
several charity-based organisations, such as the 
Willowgate Activity Centre. We recently launched 
the Perth Harbour Community Fund. It gives projects 
helping the most vulnerable people locally the 
opportunity to be granted up to £2,000.

A further expected increase in the number of 
ships up to 2022/23 is expected to increase the 
economic contribution, with a modest increase in 
the Harbour’s core economic impact and increased 
activity at existing operators.

The output of the recent Perth Harbour Economic 
Impact assessment is evidence of the successful 
collaboration between all parties involved at the 
Port. At DML, we will continue to drive forward the 
success of the harbour, by repurposing its use as a 
strategic inland port continuing the support to our 
customers’ needs and the Scottish economy.

£5.5m
Perth Harbour is helping  
to contribute

to the Scottish economy 
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
THE GROUP’S RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
The Group’s Risk Management Strategy ensures that 
the wide range of risks related to the challenges 
faced by the organisation are captured and 
managed. The Group has set out its risk appetite, 
and the approach to dealing with barriers to 
achieving the corporate objectives through its 
comprehensive Risk Management Policy and the 
associated risk registers.

The Corporate Risk Register records those risks 
that may affect the organisation as a whole and 
may prevent the achievement of the strategic goals 
and objectives. The Register is linked to corporate 

objectives and all risks 
are assigned a value 
to measure likelihood 
and impact. This 
enables them to be 
assessed in line with 
the organisation’s risk 
appetite. The Register is 
reviewed and assessed 
by the Executive team 
and Board members. 

The Group have a Risk 
Management function 
to further enhance and 

facilitate the management of risk throughout the 
organisation. The principles being applied by this 
team ensure that risks are initially identified and that 
ongoing reviews are carried out to identify new risks.

 

Ref Risk Key Mitigations
Fleet 
Reliability

There is a risk that some of our 
vessels may be unavailable for 
an extensive period, impacting 
on our ability to deliver a 
reliable service. This risk arises 
as we operate a fleet of vessels 
with a diverse age range, 
condition, and complexity.

We are collaborating with CMAL (vessel owner) on a number 
of initiatives that will improve vessel reliability:

•  Delivery of Upgrade and Resilience programme of work for 
the fleet. 

•  Provide input and support to develop the Major Vessel 
Replacement Programme which is in progress.

•  Provide support for Transport Scotland to develop the vessel 
strategy for SG Ferries Plan. 

We have also developed a programme of Fleet Reliability 
improvement initiatives that include:
•  Introduction of defect management system, as well as 

improvements to defect management processes, identifying 
defect trends and relevant actions. 

•   Delivery of Preventative Maintenance Strategy, and condition 
monitoring programme for major vessel equipment. 

•  Embedding learnings and improvements because of our 
experience, vessel technical events and investigations.

Staff 
Wellbeing

There is a risk that staff 
wellbeing may deteriorate 
during periods of business 
disruption. This could be 
due to a change in working 
practices, prolonged periods 
working from home, changes 
to working from home 
practices and/or isolation, lack 
of meaningful work and travel 
and social restrictions.

•  Covid-19 Working Group established at Executive and 
Operational levels within the organisation.

•  Protocols to support staff wellbeing reviewed, developed and 
maintained. 

• Daily Covid-19 briefings.
•  Formal and regular programme of staff communication.
•  Monitor staff, provide support and raise awareness of 

assistance available.

•  Maintain and apply all relevant government advice to working 
practices.

Climate 
Change

There is a risk that the impacts 
of climate change could 
significantly impact our service 
offering. This may result in 
increased service disruptions, 
customer experience 
deterioration and lack of 
confidence in our services, as 
well as damaged corporate 
credibility.

•  We undertook a climate change risk assessment, to assess 
the potential impacts of climate change on our service 
offering.

•  From this advice, we developed a plan and approach to 
mitigate the impact of climate change. 

•  Plan and approach shared with Executive team, to ensure 
impacts are considered within decision making and business 
planning.

•  Climate change plan is now embedded within our 
Environment Strategy.

Data Breach There is a risk that we incur a 
substantial fine to the ICO, due 
to a data breach arising from 
not adequately controlling our 
customers / colleagues’ data, 
failing to incorporate data 
protection at the design stage 
of any business change, non-
compliance with data policies 
& controls, uncontrolled 
processing of data or lack of 
ownership of data.

We have introduced a Data Governance Steering Group with 
representation from Finance, Data Security, Data Protection, 
Records and Data Management. A Data Owners Group 
has also been established to deliver compliance with Data 
Governance requirements.

We have also developed a programme of activity to enhance 
our Data compliance position.
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CLIENT (TRANSPORT SCOTLAND)

Key Issues
Transport Scotland’s vision is for a sustainable, 
inclusive, safe and accessible transport system 
helping deliver a healthier, fairer and more 
prosperous Scotland. The key issues in relation to 
the CHFs contract are;

Resilience: the technical resilience of the current 
fleet to deliver reliable services.

Community Engagement: effective community 
engagement. 

Infrastructure strategy: the development of a long-
term strategy for vessels and ports.

Engagement in 
2021
We attend monthly 
contract meetings 
where detailed KPIs 
and performance are 
reviewed. We are an 
active participant in 
the Ferry Division’s 
monthly Network 
Strategy Group and 
Project Steering 
Committees, to 
support the client 
make procurement 
choices and build the long-term strategy. We also 
support the client in community engagement either 
on their behalf or in collaboration.

We are working to optimise how we collaborate 
with Transport Scotland, and have commenced 
a programme aligned to the Miller Heiman, Large 
Account Management Process, to ultimately develop 
this key partnership. 
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STAKEHOLDERS AND  
S172 STATEMENT 
In line with the requirements of S172 of the 
Companies Act 2006, the Directors present details 
of their duty to promote the success of the Group 
for the benefit of stakeholders. We have identified 
our key stakeholders, the issues that matter most 
to them and the engagement activities conducted 
during the year.

A summary of key discussions and decisions taken 
by the Board, with examples of how stakeholder 
considerations have been considered, are included 
on page 40–41.

CUSTOMERS

Key Issues
Reliability and punctuality of service were the key 
issues for our customers, providing certainty for 
their businesses and leisure travel plans.

Given the impact of Covid-19 on our customers, ease 
of doing business with CalMac was paramount for 
those travelling with us.

Ensuring our customers feel safe following a review 
when travelling with us throughout the pandemic 
and protecting our communities was also of high 
importance to our customers.

Engagement in 2021

Customer Steering Group: 
A Customer Steering Group which includes 
customer representatives from the Island 
Community Board and colleagues from front line 
roles has been created to understand the key issues 
facing our customers and determining how we  
best respond.

Voice of Customer:
We survey and analyse feedback from our customers 
at key stages on their journey and measure several 
Customer Experience metrics including CSAT, ease 
of task completion and trust. These are tracked 
against internal KPIs.  

Throughout the past year we have reviewed and 
analysed thousands of free text responses and social 
media channels to gather themes for improvement 
and reasons for scores and sentiment.  Insight is 
delivered to the Customer Experience team and 
the wider business, working groups. The Customer 
Steering Group is used to deliver improvements and 
communicate results.  In addition to this, we have 
conducted numerous ad-hoc research projects and 
work with independent research agencies to ensure 
all projects and initiatives are data led and customer 
focused.

Following a review of our customer communications, 
we focussed on a strategy of ‘truth well told.’  
The following pillars were the bedrock of that 
strategy: Customer Focus; Transparency; Empathy; 
Meeting the needs of different audiences; and 
alignment of customer, stakeholder, and colleague 
communications.  Through this, we reinforced 
Scottish Government guidelines and laws to ensure 
our customers understood our commitments to 
a safer travel experience and outlining their own 
responsibilities when travelling.
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LOCAL COMMUNITIES

Key Issues
Contributing to the success of the communities that 
we serve, including providing opportunities for local 
employment and training, as well as supporting 
local projects to improve the wellbeing of our 
communities.

As a knock-on effect from the Covid-19 pandemic, 
our local communities reported to us an increase in 
the following social issues: mental health; loneliness; 
social isolation and poverty.

Engagement in 2021
We continue to reach out and be present in our 
communities, supporting events, working with 
learning and development partners through our 
apprenticeship programme and through career 
progression events. 

Regular meetings with our local communities 
through local Ferry Committees take place to discuss 
route-specific issues. The CalMac Area Operation 
Managers liaise with each committee and report 
key findings back to management for escalation if 
required.

This is also the case for regional specific issues 
(dealt with via the Ferry Stakeholder Groups 
(FSGs)) and network wide strategic issues, which 
the management team engages with the Ferries 
Community Board. This is an independent board 
consisting of representatives from across our 
network, with the aim of having strategic community 
input into our decision-making process.

Our Corporate Social Responsibility Manager 
engages and consults with local third sector 
organisations and partners to shape DML community 
investment programmes such as the CalMac 
Community Fund. In turn, this ensures our resources 
are directed toward local needs and return maximum 
value for our communities. In 2020, we made 60 
awards to community groups tackling mental health, 
loneliness, social isolation, and poverty.
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“We continue to reach 
out and be present in our 
communities, supporting 
events, working with learning 
and development partners 
through our apprenticeship 
programme and through 
career progression events.”

SUPPLIERS

Key Issues
Brexit:  
We have worked closely with our suppliers during 
the period to successfully mitigate any post-Brexit 
issues, to ensure continuity of supply for the 
business.

Covid-19:  
Since the beginning of Covid-19, we have continued 
to have regular engagement with our supply chain, 
including a focus on our strategic and critical 
suppliers, to optimise planning time to ensure 
critical goods and services are delivered when 
required. 

Face to face engagement with suppliers during 
the period has been limited, due to the impact of 
Covid-19 restrictions. However, we have fully utilised 
modern technologies, which has enabled regular 
and enhanced supplier engagement.

Prompt payment:  
Suppliers expect to be paid promptly after high 
quality goods or services have been provided. We 
adopt processes in line with Scottish Government 
Prompt Payment policy, with 80% of suppliers paid 
on time and within 30 days.

Engagement in 2021
Supplier Relationship Management (SRM):  
We have effectively deployed SRM methodology this 
year, including regular supplier review meetings to 
identify key actions for improvement. Processes and 
procedures have been established to enable the 
work stream, supporting the delivery of high-quality 
goods and services.

Supplier Score-carding:  
This has successfully been established for an 
identified range of critical suppliers. This includes 
scoring suppliers across essential criteria for quality, 
cost, sustainability, and service. This initiative has 
been well received by our internal stakeholders, and 
supply chain, and will continue to be developed.

Where appropriate, the Competitive Procedure with 
Negotiation (CPN) has been used as the route to 
market. In our regulated procurement environment, 
this has supported engagement with suppliers 
during the procurement process to enable the award 
of robust, commercially viable contracts that have 
delivered high quality goods and services.

EMPLOYEES

Key Issues
Staff welfare and wellbeing:  
The impact of Covid-19 on the physical and mental 
health of staff, whether on the front line or working 
from home, has been a significant issue during the 
pandemic. 

Pay and conditions: 
A two year pay deal with our four recognised trade 
unions was negotiated in 2020/21.

Career development and training: 
We have continued to invest heavily in the 
development of our staff, adapting much of our 
training offer to online during the pandemic. This 

included statutory training, to ensure our staff 
maintained their professional certification, as well as 
developmental training.

Engagement in 2021
The ‘Our People’ project was set up to drive and 
measure activity across the areas of building trust, 
ensuring supportive management, developing a 
positive and inclusive culture, and driving a one 
team approach. More details are included within 
‘Our People and Staff Engagement’ on page 23. 

An ‘Inclusive CalMac’ group and a ‘Wellbeing’ group 
have been established, both involving colleagues 
from all areas of our business. 

Modern technologies have enabled us to connect 
with colleagues remotely and allow them to become 
more involved and have their voices heard. 
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“We supported national 
campaigns including Scotland’s 
Climate Week, Recycle Week 
and the #ReuseBeatsSingleUse 
campaign through internal and 
external communications.”

ENVIRONMENT

Key Issues
Carbon emissions:  
Due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
passenger numbers, sailings, business travel and the 
use of heating fuel and electricity in our ports and 
head office decreased. 

Waste: 
Procurement of new waste contracts and recycling 
stations across the network as well as a decrease 
in general waste due to the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic have had a positive impact on recycling 
rates and diversion of waste from landfill as we have 
seen total waste produced fall. 

to 

18%
0.1173 kg 
CO2e

and relative carbon footprint 
has increased by

to 

passenger km.

20%
102,442

As a result, total carbon 
emissions have decreased 

tCO2e to from 2019/20 levels

36%

60%

37%

16%

Total waste produced 
decreased by 

and the proportion of our 
waste sent for recycling 
increased to

and that sent to landfill 
decreased to

increase from 2019/20 
levels

from 2019/20 levels

a

ENGAGEMENT IN 2021
We carried out extensive engagement across the 
business to identify significant environmental 
aspects and propose actions to reduce 
environmental impact. The actions which align with 
the four core priorities of our Environmental Strategy 
form an Action Plan 2021–23 with progress tracked 
and reported quarterly to the Board.

We carried out extensive engagement across 
the business to identify and rank each 
department’s significant environmental aspects 
and identify actions to reduce environmental 
impact. The actions which align with the four 
core priorities of our Environmental Strategy 
form an Action Plan 2021–23 with progress 
tracked and reported quarterly to the Board.

We engaged with Scottish Government on topics 
including the national litter strategy, restrictions on 
single-use plastics and the Deposit Return Scheme.

We supported national campaigns including 
Scotland’s Climate Week, Recycle Week and the 
#ReuseBeatsSingleUse campaign through internal 
and external communications.

Wildlife Fact File blogs and educational material 
were created by the ORCA Hebrides Wildlife Officer 
– designed for school age children to access during 
lockdown and posted on our Marine Awareness 
webpages.

#ReuseBeatsSingleUse
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performance and the opportunity to take decisions 
to ensure that funding is allocated appropriately and 
to address any emerging risks, eg fleet maintenance 
driven by the increasing average age of vessels.

During the annual planning process and as part of 
our regular strategy reviews, we look at our funding 
requirements. This ensures that our financial 
planning supports our strategy with consideration 
to invest in the capability, scale of the Group, and 
meet shareholder expectations by paying dividends 
when appropriate. Our strategy is ambitious but will 
position DML well for our long-term prospects and 
growth ambitions, while honouring commitments to 
our stakeholders.

Culture
The Board has a role in ensuring that the business 
is sustainable in the long term, which includes 
embedding the desired culture. The Board supported 
our decision to launch an ambitious programme of 
values; People First, Bravery, and Locality - and a 
programme of staff engagement to communicate the 
values widely, as well as reviewing our need to adapt, 
connect and communicate with each other. (Ref Our 
People and Staff Engagement page 23). Our values 
also underpin how we manage our key stakeholder 
relationships and engagement with our customers, 
suppliers, shareholder, contractors and the wider 
community. Progress on the change programme is 
reported regularly to the Board.

Environment
The Board approved our Environmental Strategy 
2021-23. The Strategy focuses on four Core Priority 
Areas: Climate Action to reduce emissions from 
fuel combustion and energy consumption; Climate 
Action to prepare for climate change and manage 
climate risk; Responsible Consumption and 
Production to minimise waste and move towards 
circular economy thinking and Life under Water to 
protect biodiversity. The four core priorities align 
with the UN Sustainable Development Goals and 
the Scottish Governments 2020 Environmental 
Strategy. The Strategy incorporates an Action Plan of 
departmental commitments to reduce the impact of 
their significant aspects.

Strategic Report
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SHAREHOLDER

Key Issues
Group Financial Performance, including the strength 
of our Balance Sheet.

Understanding and supporting delivery of our Group 
strategy and operations.

Strong relationships, with open communication 
channels to the Board.

Engagement in 2021
Annual Report:  
The Annual report provides details of Group financial 
performance, as well as progress against key 
priorities, with clear and transparent messaging.

DML Board meetings 
are held throughout 
the year with our 
Sponsor (Shareholder 
representative) in 
attendance.

Shareholder 
engagement meetings 
were held throughout 
the year to discuss 
Group growth and 
operational strategy.

BOARD DISCUSSIONS AND DECISIONS TAKEN 
DURING 2021, WHERE STAKEHOLDER VIEWS 
WERE CONSIDERED AND INFORMED THE 
DECISION.

Online Refunds and Customer Insights
Policies, processes and structures supporting the 
customer journey were reviewed in detail, and we 
took the decision to introduce an online refunds 
process for our customers at the start of the 
Covid-19 lockdown. We removed all cancellation and 
amendment fees without requesting evidence.

We continue to invest in better understanding our 
customers with the creation of a customer insights 
team and development of a customer experience 

strategy. This ensures 
the business is making 
decisions based on 
insights and acting 
in the areas which 
are important to our 
customers. 

In the past year, the 
business has continued 
its commitment to 
making data-informed 
decisions that place 
the customer at the 
heart of all we do. The 
profile of the insights 

team has been raised and capability grown through 
the approval of additional resource and procuring 
new tools and systems; a Customer Experience 
Measurement Solution (VOC platform) and 
Customer Journey mapping software. Combined, 
these will allow us to track and monitor customer 
sentiment and Customer Experience metrics in real 
time for all touchpoints in the customer journey, 
presenting results and actionable insights to those 
responsible for making real improvements to our 
service.

Financial Planning
Financial Planning, funding allocation and dividend 
policy decisions.

In line with our agreed policies this year’s plan was 
approved by the Board following a comprehensive 
review of our strategic priorities and risks. We 
regularly review how we are performing against plan 
and report monthly and year to date financial results 
compared with the Board approved plan. This is in 
addition to reviewing the financial forecast outlook 
for the year. There is a process in place to assess this 



42 DAVID MACBRAYNE ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Our People

wasn’t my family that I phoned first, it was another 
skipper – one of my best friends within the company 
– because he’d invested a lot of time to get me 
to where I am – Ronnie McKillop – he works with 
CalMac. 

There are many great days, like the day I met my wife 
four years ago on this ferry and my first day here, five 
years ago. There are a few low points, but it happens 
when we go off with technical issues and you have 
that pressure there to make sure folk get to where 
they’re going. When you’re taking school kids to and 
from school, you really need to get them home. Or 
tourists on their holidays and having a great time, 
they maybe don’t understand ferry travel like the 
locals, why it’s broken down or why it’s off because 

of weather – 
unfortunately 
these things 
happen from 
time to time, but 
very rarely. 

I love everything 
about my job. 
Even when it’s 
the middle of 
December or 
January and 
blowing a hoolie 
outside and you 

know it’s going to be a long day or we’re not going 
to be sailing, I’ve never thought I can’t be bothered 
today. 

For anyone who is thinking about a career at sea, 
I would promote CalMac. I’ve just turned 30 and I 
don’t have any plans to be going anywhere else. I’ll 
probably still be here when I’m 75. 

Our People
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5 years
Sandy Wood has worked 
for CalMac for

Being from an island myself, 
CalMac makes the west coast 
tick, it keeps it moving. I’ve seen 
this firsthand as when I was little, 
my grannie wouldn’t have got to 
her hospital appointments if it 
wasn’t for CalMac.

SANDY WOODS
SKIPPER
Sandy Woods is a Skipper 
who has worked for CalMac 
for five years. Based out of 
Oban, he goes wherever he’s 
required within the small 
ferry network.
Being from an island myself, CalMac makes the west 
coast tick, it keeps it moving. I’ve seen this firsthand 
as when I was little, my grannie wouldn’t have got 
to her hospital 
appointments 
if it wasn’t for 
CalMac. In my 
role now, if I 
can do that for 
someone else 
– it maybe not 
as important 
as the doctor 
that’s treating 
someone – but 
it’s an important 
job to get folk on 
the west coast to places. 

This vessel is based up between Sconser and 
Raasay, a small island just off the Isle of Skye. This 
is a lifeline service, throughout the winter months, 
from November to the end of February, you are 
working with locals commuting to Skye for work or 
taking school children every day. In the summer 
months, March to October, we’re getting about 85% 
tourism, which is great for the island.

I always wanted to work for CalMac. I used the ferry 
as a passenger or as a school child and I always 
looked up to the guys on the ferry. I remember the 
phone call when I got the position of skipper, it 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DAVID MCGIBBON
Chairman
David McGibbon is a qualified 
accountant and an independent 
business consultant. He is a former 
Board member of Historic Scotland 
and is a former independent Chair 
of the Audit and Risk Committee 
of Historic Environment Scotland. 
He formerly served as Chairman 
of the London Stock Exchange, 
Scottish Council and held the post 
of Finance Director and Company 
Secretary with Grampian Holdings 
plc., the then parent company 
of the Malcolm Group. David is 
a former Chair of the Scottish 
Group of the Pensions and Lifetime 
Savings Association (formerly 
NAPF).

DUNCAN MACKISON
Chief Executive
Duncan Mackison is CEO for David 
MacBrayne Limited. Duncan 
is a Board level professional 
with particular expertise in the 
delivery of high value, complex 
service contracts to government 
and public sector clients. He 
is an Executive Director for 
the David MacBrayne Group, 
CalMac Ferries Limited and 
Solent Gateway Limited. He is 
also the Vice–President (Royal 
Marines) for the Reserve Forces 
& Cadets Association Lowland 
Board and Chairman of the Board 
of Governors for The Glasgow 
Academy. He was previously 
Chairman of Alba Trees Plc and a 
Trustee of the Crawick Multiverse 
Trust.

ROBBIE DRUMMOND
Managing Director
Robbie Drummond is Managing 
Director for CalMac Ferries Limited 
and Executive Board Director for 
the David MacBrayne Group. In 
2016 he led the successful £1bn 
bid for Clyde and Hebrides ferry 
services and is now leading the 
delivery of our services across 34 
vessels, 51 ports and over 1,650 
staff. His previous roles in the 
Group include Group Finance 
Director, Transformation Director, 
Bid Director and Operations 
Director. He is also a Director of 
Solent Gateway Limited, a joint 
venture set up by David MacBrayne 
Limited and GBA (Holdings) 
Limited under contract with the 
MOD to operate and commercially 
develop the Marchwood 
military port, and is a member 
of Interferry’s Operator Policy 
Committee.

Robbie is skilled at building 
relationships with a wide variety 
of senior stakeholders and 
local communities, leading 
teams through change and 
passionate about driving business 
performance improvement. He has 
a keen interest in supporting local 
business, particularly community 
based, and serves as Chairman 
of Stramash (an outdoor nursery 
social enterprise) and is on the 
Board of the SCDI (Scottish Council 
for Development and Industry).

SUSAN BROWELL
Non–Executive Director
Susan Browell is a Board 
level HR professional with 
over 30 years’ strategic and 
operational experience gained 
in public, private and non–profit 
organisations in the UK with 
some International experience. 
She is a Chartered Fellow of the 
Chartered Institute of Personnel 
and Development. Ms Browell 
has been responsible for change 
programmes, consultancy 
projects, management training 
and leadership development for 
a variety of organisations in the 
UK and overseas and lectured 
at a university business school. 
She has also authored books, 
book chapters and articles. She is 
currently a Public Interest Member 
for the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants Scotland and was 
a Non–Executive Director for 
the Scottish Prison Service and 
a Trustee of Diabetes UK. She 
has been a regular passenger of 
CalMac for over 30 years.
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MICHAEL COMERFORD
Non–Executive Director
Michael Comerford originally 
trained as a Naval Architect and 
has over 35 years’ experience in 
shipbuilding, shipping, offshore 
energy and logistics, starting his 
career with Lloyd’s Register of 
Shipping. He has held industry 
leadership positions focussing 
on asset integrity and asset 
management, organisational 
competence and operational 
excellence with Bureau Veritas, 
Petrofac Ltd and most recently in 
a consultancy role with the Global 
Offshore Wind Division of the 
Danish state utility DONG Energy. 
He served as a Regional Director 
for Scotland and Northern Ireland 
of the UK Maritime and Coastguard 
Agency (MCA) and subsequently 
on its main Board as Director of 
Strategy and Communications. 
Prior to this he was Managing 
Director of Lithgow’s Ltd Marine 
Division comprising four shipyards 
and a ship design consultancy. He 
has extensive Board experience 
as a Director and Chairman, with 
particular expertise in Asset 
Management, Risk, Safety, Audit 
and Business Continuity. He is a 
Chartered Engineer, a Member 
of the Royal Institution of Naval 
Architects (MRINA), an Associate 
Fellow of the Nautical Institute 
and an RYA/MCA commercially–
endorsed yacht master and 
instructor. In July 2018, Michael 
was appointed as a Non–Executive 
Director of the Port of Tyne.

STEPHEN HAGAN
Non–Executive Director
Stephen Hagan has farmed in 
Orkney for over 30 years, since 
working as a chartered Civil 
Engineer with the Northern 
Ireland Civil Service. He retired as 
a councillor with Orkney Islands 
Council in 2017, where he served 
as Transportation Chairman 
between 1999 and 2003 and as 
Convener of the Council from 2003 
to 2012. During his final Council 
term, he was the spokesperson 
for Development, Economy 
and Sustainability with CoSLA 
(Convention of Scottish Local 
Authorities). He is a Non–Executive 
Director with Visit Scotland. 
Previous posts include Chairman 
of Orkney Ferries, Board member 
with the North of Scotland Water 
Authority and Vice–Chairman of 
both Orkney Enterprise and Orkney 
Auction Mart. He brings extensive 
experience of working with national 
and local government, along with 
many communities throughout 
Scotland.

JAMES STIRLING
Non–Executive Director
Jim Stirling OBE works as an 
advisor, mentor and consultant 
across a range of business 
sectors. A chartered engineer, 
he brings extensive experience 
of working with national and 
local governments, passionate 
customers and wider stakeholders. 
Jim was Technical Director of 
Canal and River Trust, the new 
body responsible for the canal 
network in England and Wales. 
Previously, as Technical Director 
of the government–owned British 
Waterways, he was Project Director 
for the transfer of the canals to 
the charitable sector and was 
on the team negotiating with UK 
Government. Between 1992 and 
2006 he led British Waterways in 
Scotland building partnerships to 
safeguard the canals, culminating 
in the reopening of the Lowland 
Canals and the creation of The 
Falkirk Wheel. Prior to joining 
the public sector, he worked in 
engineering and construction both 
in the UK and abroad. Jim has an 
MBA, is a Fellow of The Institution 
of Civil Engineers, a Fellow of The 
Institution of Royal Engineers and 
a Member of The Institution of 
Structural Engineers.
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ALBERT TAIT
Non–Executive Director
Albert Tait OBE has over 40 
years of experience at senior 
management, Director and Board 
level in the private and public 
sector. He was formerly Chief 
Executive of the Convention of 
Scottish Local Authorities (CoSLA) 
and Orkney Islands Council. He 
was also previously Director of 
Finance and Housing at Orkney 
Islands Council and a member 
of the Standards Commission for 
Scotland. A qualified accountant 
(FCCA, CPFA), he has been 
actively engaged in strategic 
planning, resource allocation, 
business case development 
and performance management 
covering transportation and 
economic development activities. 
He has extensive knowledge and 
experience of public sector finance 
in general and local government in 
particular.
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The best days are when we’ve helped through 
adversity. In the snowstorms a few years ago, 
we helped with connecting generators to hotels, 
transporting generators and Scottish Power workers 
to the islands – that’s when you really feel ‘yeah, 
I’ve done something here.’ We do medivacs and 
repatriations and because we have a lot community 
people working with us, we usually know who 
is involved, so there is usually an emotional 
connection. We feel quite proud of what we do. 

I also work as a union liaison officer for the engineers 
and I always say this; ‘CalMac is a great company to 
work for. Regards being a merchant navel engineer, 
there are no better companies in the world to work 
for. This is the best company to work for – the terms 

and conditions, 
the ethos, the job 
satisfaction you 
get is unique… 
it’s really unique.’ 

Our People
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16 years
Change this to Gavin has 
worked here for 

The best days are when we’ve 
helped through adversity. In 
the snowstorms a few years 
ago, we helped with connecting 
generators to hotels, transporting 
generators and Scottish Power 
workers to the islands – that’s 
when you really feel ‘yeah, I’ve 
done something here.’ 

It’s the fact that a breakdown 
might mean that somebody 
on the island won’t make a 
business appointment, a hospital 
appointment, or get a product in 
time that allows them to survive. 

GAVIN JAKEMAN
CHIEF ENGINEER 
Gavin Jakeman is a Chief 
Engineer who joined CalMac 
16 years ago after working 
for Steiner Line and P&O on 
the Irish Sea services. He 
currently operates on two 
services that serve Islay and 
South Uist. 

“CalMac is a totally 
different company 
to other commercial 
operators, that tend to 
be focussed on money. 
CalMac is completely 
opposite. The pressure 
we put on ourselves is 
not the fact that that 
a breakdown will cost 
money or we’ll lose 
revenue, it’s the fact 
that a breakdown might 
mean that somebody 

on the island won’t make a business appointment, 
a hospital appointment, or get a product in time 
that allows them to survive. It’s a different kind of 
pressure, it’s a human pressure. 

In my mind, I see our customer as one entity – the 
community. It’s not individuals, it’s not groups, 
it’s not a haulier company, it’s not a particular 
fishing fleet, it’s the community that the vessel is 
serving at that time. We’re responsible for the boat 
running, the operation of the boat going from A to 
B; the power generation and supply of all electricity 
on the boat; the water; the sewage; the catering 
equipment.

The key responsibility for the Chief Engineer is 
essentially everything mechanical or electrical on 
that vessel. 

A terrible day for me is when the boat has to come 
off service. Then communities are starved of 
services and that’s when the pressure really  
ramps up. 



52 DAVID MACBRAYNE ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Governance

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND 
BUSINESS REVIEW 
David MacBrayne is a publicly owned private 
company with the Scottish Government being its 
sole shareholder. Its primary activity is to operate 
ferry services and port management for the Clyde 
and the Hebrides. DML is a holding company. 

CalMac Ferries Limited (CFL) is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of David MacBrayne Limited (DML), which 
is wholly-owned by Scottish Ministers. 

CFL was created in October 2006 to bid for the 
Scottish Government contract to operate Clyde 
& Hebrides Ferry Services (CHFS I), which it 
subsequently won, and which was extended to 
September 2016. In May 2016, following a full 
tendering process, CFL was awarded the CHFS 2 
contract to run the services for a further eight years 
to 2024. 

Solent Gateway Limited, a joint venture between 
DML with GBA (Holdings) Limited, delivers the 
Marchwood Military Port management contract in 
Southampton. 

PURPOSE STATEMENT AND VALUES
DML will be a world class vessel and port service 
company driven by delighting its customers, 
enriching the communities in which it operates and 
earning fair shareholder returns.

Our principles and values that will accelerate 
delivery of this Purpose are:

People First – we help each other thrive

Locality – we act in the best interest of the places 
we serve

Bravery – we think and act with courage and 
conviction

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT
The Group is committed to ambitious standards 
of corporate governance, business integrity and 
professionalism in all its activities, a summary of 
which is set out on the remainder of this page and 
pages 46 to 57.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The David MacBrayne Limited Board is the principal 
decision-making forum for the Group. It has overall 
responsibility for leading and controlling the Group 

and is accountable to the parent company’s sole 
shareholder, the Scottish Ministers, for financial 
and operational performance. The Board approves 
Group strategy and monitors performance. The 
Board has adopted a formal schedule of matters 
specifically reserved for its decision, which is 
reviewed on an annual basis.

The roles of the Chairman and the Group Chief 
Executive are distinct and separate, with a clear 
division of responsibilities.

The Chair leads the Board and ensures the effective 
engagement and contribution of all Non-Executive 
and Executive Directors. Executive Directors 
have responsibility for all operating companies’ 
business and act in accordance with the authority 
delegated from the Board. Responsibility for the 
implementation of policy, strategy and operational 
management is delegated to the Executive Directors.

A minimum of four Board Meetings are held each 
year. Board Meetings are structured to allow open 
discussion and all Directors participate in discussing 
the Group’s strategic aims and performance, 
as well as financial and risk management. All 
Directors can declare any conflict of interest at 
the beginning of each Board or Board Committee 
meeting. The Board is supplied with comprehensive 
information in advance of each Board Meeting, 
including financial and operational reports covering 
the Group’s business activities. Members of the 
senior management of the Group companies 
regularly attend and make presentations at Board 
Meetings. A representative of the parent company’s 
sole shareholder attends each Board Meeting. 
Board Meetings are supplemented by workshops/
development sessions as appropriate throughout 
the year.

BOARD BALANCE AND INDEPENDENCE
The Board currently comprises six Non-Executive 
Directors (including the Chair) and two Executive 
Directors. The Board considers that all Non-
Executive Directors are independent.

The Directors believe that the Board functions 
effectively and efficiently and is of an appropriate 
size in relation to the Group’s level of business and 
associated responsibilities.

The Directors believe their collective experience 
provides an appropriate mix of skills, experience, 

and expertise. The Board Committees comprise 
Directors with a mix of relevant skills and experience 
such that no undue reliance is placed on any one 
individual.

The Non-Executive Directors combine broad 
business and commercial experience with 
independent and objective judgement and 
constructively challenge and assist the development 
of proposals on strategy.

The balance between Non-Executive and Executive 
Directors enables the Board to provide clear and 
effective leadership and maintain the highest 
standards of integrity and professionalism across 
the Group’s business activities.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
All Board appointments are approved by Scottish 
Ministers. Non-Executive Directors are appointed 
for a three- or four-year period and can be re-
appointed. Executive Directors are appointed 
for a period coterminous with the holding of the 
associated executive post. All appointments and 
re-appointments are subject to the limitations 
prescribed in the Code of Practice for Ministerial 
Appointments to Public Bodies in Scotland, 
as published by the Public Appointments 
Commissioner for Scotland.

INFORMATION, INDUCTION AND 
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
The Chair ensures that all Directors receive clear, 
accurate and timely information on all relevant 
matters. Any requests for further information or 
clarification are dealt with or co-ordinated by the 
Company Secretary.

All Directors have access to the advice and services 
of the Company Secretary and are entitled to obtain 
independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense.

On appointment, a director receives a formal 
induction, including an introductory meeting 
with the Chairman and the Executive Directors. 
During their term of office, Directors undertake 
such professional development as is considered 
necessary to assist them in carrying out their duties 
as Directors.

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
The performance of Non-Executive Directors is 
assessed by the Chair and the performance of 
Executive Directors is assessed by the Remuneration 
Committee. The Chairman’s performance is 
assessed by the Scottish Ministers.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of 
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness 
to safeguard the Shareholder’s investment and the 
Group’s assets. The system is designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

Procedures are in place to ensure that there is an 

ongoing process for identifying, evaluating, and 
managing the significant risks faced by the Group, 
which is subject to regular review by the Audit & Risk 
Committee and the Board. The Board continues to 
take steps to ensure that a consistent approach to 
these procedures is adopted throughout the Group.

Governance

DAVID MACBRAYNE ANNUAL REPORT 2021  53



54 DAVID MACBRAYNE ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Governance

The key elements of the system of internal control 
are as follows: 

Control structure
The Group’s control structure is the responsibility 
of the Directors and Managers at all levels. The 
Group’s organisational structure has clear lines of 
responsibility and effective communication channels 
which ensures that best practice in managing risks 
and controls is consistently applied throughout  
the Group.

In addition, the Group’s internal and external 
auditors present reports to the Audit & Risk 
Committee which include any significant internal 
control matters which they have identified.

Under ISO 14001: 2015 accreditation, CalMac 
Ferries Limited has implemented an environmental 
management system which is aimed at minimising 
environmental risks and ensuring compliance with 
legislative and corporate governance requirements.

Identification and monitoring of business 
risks
The Group has adopted a risk-based approach to 
internal control through evaluating the likelihood 
and impact of risks and resting responsibility for risk 
management and internal control in a designated 
owner. Procedures include an ongoing process of 
identifying, evaluating, and managing the Group’s 
key risks and, where appropriate, enhancing the 
systems which manage these risks. Regular review 
of the risks is undertaken by the Audit & Risk 
Committee and the Board.

Major corporate information systems
The Group operates a comprehensive budgeting 
and financial reporting system. The system provides 
monthly comparison of actual results against both 
budget year budget and annual contract, regularly 
revised forecasts, statements of financial position 
and key performance indicators, all of which are 
regularly reviewed by the Board.

Standard financial control procedures, which 
provide assurance on the integrity of the Group’s 
finances, are operated in all companies within  
the Group.

Going concern
Based on the information available to them, the 
Directors have a reasonable expectation that the 
Group has adequate resources, with the continued 
support of Transport Scotland, to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, the Directors consider it appropriate 
to continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements.

BOARD COMMITTEES 
To provide effective overview and leadership, the 
Board has established several Committees with 
specific responsibilities extending to all companies 
within the Group. The Committee Chairmanship 
and membership, all comprising Non-Executive 
Directors, is refreshed at appropriate intervals.

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE
The Group Audit & Risk Committee is required, 
on behalf of the Board, to satisfy itself as to the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Audit and Risk 
policies and procedures adopted in compliance with 
all legislation and other requirements of audit and 
risk affecting the Group’s activities.

The Audit & Risk Committee will assist the Board 
discharging their responsibilities in relation to 
the strategic processes for risk, control and 
governance, the accounting policies, the accounts, 
and the annual report of the organisation, including 
the process for review of the accounts prior to 
submission for audit, levels of error identified 
and management’s letter of representation to the 
external auditors.

The Committee will advise the Board on the planned 
activity and results of both internal and external 
audit reviews, the Group risk appetite, tolerance and 
strategy and the current risk exposure.

The Committee reviews and monitors the 
independence of the external auditors in relation to 
non-audit assignments, considering relevant ethical 
guidance.

The Committee undertakes an annual evaluation 
to assess the independence and objectivity of 
the external auditors and the effectiveness of the 
audit process, taking into consideration relevant 
professional and regulatory requirements.

The Committee meets at least four times a year. The 
present members of the Committee are as follows:

A V Tait (Chair)

S Browell

J Stirling

The Board is satisfied that the Committee 
membership has recent and relevant financial 
experience.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The primary function of the Remuneration 
Committee is to approve or, where appropriate, 
make recommendations to the Board and the 
Scottish Ministers on pay and conditions, taking due 
account of the guidelines issued from time to time 
by the Scottish Ministers in respect of bodies in the 
public sector. In particular, the main items which the 
Committee reviews and approves are as follows:

• basic pay levels for Executive Directors,

•  targets to be set for the purpose of the Executive 
Directors’ performance scheme,

•  performance payment awards under the Executive 
Directors’ performance scheme,

•  any matter concerning terms and conditions of 
service of Executive and Non-Executive Directors,

•  any policy matters concerning benefits for 
Executive Directors.

The remuneration levels for Non-Executive Directors 
are set by the Scottish Ministers each year. The 
performance scheme for Executive Directors 
comprises:

• financial and operational targets,

• personal targets for individual Directors,

•  related performance scheme awards for various 
levels of achievement. 

The Committee meets at least twice a year. The 
present members of the Committee are as follows:

S Hagan (Chair)

S Browell

A V Tait

Governance 
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SAFETY COMMITTEE
The Group Safety Committee is required, on behalf of the Board, to satisfy itself as to the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Health & Safety, Environmental and Security policies and procedures adopted in compliance 
with all legislation and other requirements of safety, health and environmental matters affecting the Company’s 
activities. The Committee may investigate or comment on these and any other related issues that are referred to 
it or as may appear to be necessary.

The Committee may take the opportunity to visit relevant sites to enhance their knowledge and understanding 
of the Group’s activities. The Committee assists the Executive and Senior management teams to enhance the 
approach to an effective safety culture.

The Committee meets at least four times a year. The present members of the Committee are as follows:

J Stirling (Chair)

S Browell

M Comerford

S Hagan

BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS
The number of Board and Board Committee Meetings held during the year, and the individual attendance by 
members holding office at 31 March 2021, was as follows (figures in brackets denote the number of meetings 
which members were eligible to attend):

 BOARD AUDIT* REMUNERATION* SAFETY*

D C McGibbon 11(11)  –  –  –
D Mackison 10(11)  –  –  –
R L Drummond 11(11)  –  –  –
S Browell 11(11) 7(7) 6(6) 1(1)
M Comerford 10(11)  –  – 5(5)
S Hagan 11(11)  – 6(6) 5(5)
J Stirling 11(11) 7(7)  – 5(5)
A V Tait 10(11) 7(7) 6(6)  –

* Based on committee membership through the year.

There is an appropriate level of parent company Director representation on the Boards of all the direct subsidiary 
companies.

Executive Directors and senior managers of companies within the Group are regularly invited to attend Board 
Committee Meetings as appropriate.

Relations with sole shareholder

As disclosed in the Directors’ Report, the Company, which is currently designated as a Non–Departmental Public 
Body, is wholly owned by the Scottish Ministers.

The Scottish Ministers’ appointed Assessor has the right to attend all Board Meetings.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
Details of Directors’ remuneration are as follows:

     EMPLOYER’S
     PENSION
 PERFORMANCE  BENEFITS TOTAL CONTRIBUTION
 SALARY FEES PAYMENT IN KIND 2021 2020 2021 2020
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors        
D Mackison 170 – 8 12 190 191 21 11
R L Drummond 136 – 7 11 154 160 41 40

        

Non–Executive Directors        
D C McGibbon – 28 – – 28 37 – –
S Browell – 7 – – 7 12 – –
M Comerford – 26 – – 26 14 – –
S Hagan – 9 – – 9 15 – –
J Stirling – 8 – – 8 9 – –
A V Tait – 13 – – 13 18 – –
 306 91 15  23  435 456 62 51

D Mackison employer’s pension contributions were paid in lieu of pension fund contributions.

PENSIONS
The CalMac Pension Fund, to which each member currently contributes 6%, entitles members to a pension on 
retirement based on their Final Pensionable Salary which reflects the highest salary in each of the last five years of 
pensionable service. The financial effect of the pension arrangements for Executive Directors who were members 
of the CalMac Pension Fund during the year is as follows: 

 ANNUAL PENSION PAYABLE AFTER TAKING ACCOUNT THE EFFECT ON THE TRANSFER VALUE
 FROM NORMAL RETIREMENT OF INFLATION DURING THE TRANSFER VALUE OF BASED ON
 DATE BASED ON SERVICE YEAR, THE INCREASE IN THE MOVEMENT IN ACCRUED
 AND SALARY AT MARCH ANNUAL PENSION IS ANNUAL PENSION IS PENSION
 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

R Drummond   19   16  3   3  43  (3)  338  287
Allowance has been made in the above for the contributions made by Directors. Normal Retirement Age (NRA) 
within the CalMac Pension Fund is 65.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The terms of appointment of continuing Executive Directors are as follows:

 NOTICE OF TERMINATION NOTICE OF TERMINATION
 TERM BY THE COMPANY BY THE DIRECTOR

R L Drummond Coterminous with holding the 6 months 6 months
 associated executive post  
D Mackison Coterminous with holding the 
 associated executive post 6 months 6 months
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Since its launch in 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

Our approach to Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) is to generate social and economic value 
by being a community and customer driven 
organisation. We aim to tackle issues within the 
communities we serve and deliver our CSR goals 
through key investment programmes.

Gordon McKillop, Corporate 
Social Responsibility Manager, 
David MacBrayne Ltd: 

“Our CSR work is so much 
more than corporate giving. 
Our community investment 
programmes were created 
to make a difference and 
benefit the lives of people 
living in our communities.
“We are now seeing 
health and wellbeing; 
education and skills; social 
and community; and 
employment and skills 
outcomes being delivered  
in our communities.”

CALMAC COMMUNITY FUND 
The CalMac Community Fund was created to 
make a difference and benefit those most in need. 
In response to the social issues arising from the 
pandemic, in 2020, it supported 60 local non–profit 
organisations delivering services tackling mental 
health, social isolation, loneliness and or poverty. 

The Leanne Fund, which supports people affected 
by Cystic Fibrosis in the Western Isles, received 
an award for its work to provide counselling and 
mindfulness coaching to those who have been 
struggling with isolation. 

Other projects include Home Start Lorn for 
counselling for new parents experiencing mental 
health issues, Counselling Care Skye and Lochalsh 
for play therapy 
boxes for school 
pupils, Cùram 
Thiriodh for a 
regular lunch 
club and social 
activities, sports 
equipment for 
young people 
living on Gigha, 
an outdoor 
space for the 
Brodick Early 
Years on Arran 
and support for The Meeting Place – a mental health 
service in Dunoon. 

Recent research has forecasted that for every pound 
spent by CalMac, communities across the network 
benefit from a social return of £5.14.

£676,391
It is expected to deliver

of social value over three years

CalMac became the first 
Scottish company to be 
awarded a Level 2 Social 
Value Quality Mark for 
initiatives such as the  
CalMac Community Fund. 

£1 £5.14

2019
the Fund has made awards of

£500 to

£2000

It s expected to reach and benefit over 

6,500
people

Corporate Social Responsibility
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YOUTH AND PHILANTHROPY INITIATIVE 
Young people and charities tackling social issues 
in our coastal communities benefit from CalMac’s 
partnership that aims to build new life skills with 
support from CalMac employees. 

The Wood Foundation’s Youth and Philanthropy 
Initiative (YPI) is an active citizenship programme 
that empowers young people to make a difference in 
their local communities while developing new skills. 

Pupils from participating schools form teams to 
research social issues in their area and the charities 
working to address them. They then make a case for 
their chosen charity as to why they should receive a 
£3,000 grant to help with their work. 

Our people engage in YPI by: 

Corporate Social Responsibility
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Euan Stout, Port Assistant 
in Brodick, said: “I have 
always been interested in 
helping the community 
and getting young people 
involved in communities, so 
I was keen to get involved 
with YPI. 
“The young people I met 
were awesome and really 
care about their community 
which is wonderful to see.” 
Tina MacLeod, Senior Port 
Assistant in Tarbert engaged 
with Sir E Scott school, 
commented: “Engaging with 
YPI and supporting local 
school pupils was a great 
experience. 
“I was impressed with the 
young people – they were 
very professional, and 
their presentations were 
excellent. 
“Each charity presented 
was different but all relevant 
within our local area and 
each was deserving of the 
award.” 

1

2

3

ATTENDING
online launch events to 
support the young people as 
they explore values and social 
issues in their communities.

FORMING
part of a judging panel, 
listening to team 
presentations before selecting 
one group to award £3,000 
for their nominated charity. 

MENTORING 
teams of young people to 
help develop their skills and 
confidence to use positively 
within their community. 

Alex Reid, YPI’s 
National Coordinator, 
said: “YPI is all about 
empowering and 
engaging young 
people to understand 
their role within their 
community and the 
ways in which they can 

make a difference while 
developing their own 
personal life skills. 
“Thanks for CalMac for 
their continued support 
in empowering young 
people to lead change.” 

CalMac is a partner of 10 west coast schools 
including: Nicolson Institute, Stornoway; Sir 
E Scott, Tarbert; Sgoil Lionacleit, Benbecula; 
Castlebay Community School, Barra; Ullapool High 
School; Mallaig High School; Oban High School; 
Campbeltown Grammar; Inverclyde Academy, 
Greenock; and St Columba’s, Gourock.
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STATUTORY DISCLOSURES

STRATEGIC REPORT & DIRECTOR’S REPORT
The Strategic report and the Director’s report for the 
year ended 31 March 21 comprise pages 6–68. 

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS
The Directors who held office during the year, or 
from their date of appointment, are as follows: 

 D C McGibbon 

 D Mackison 

 R L Drummond 

 S Browell 

 M Comerford 

 S Hagan 

 J Stirling 

 A Tait

None of the Directors had any beneficial interest in 
the share capital of the parent company or any of its 
subsidiaries at any time during the year.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS
The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union 
as set out in Note 1 Accounting Policies.

The financial statements of the parent company are 
prepared under UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (UK GAAP), including FRS 101 Reduced 
Disclosure Framework.

SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & SECURITY
The Board recognises that safe operation of the 
ships and ports is of paramount importance and 
considers it essential that there is constant review 
of all practices impacting on health and safety, 
environmental and security matters and that there 
is constant vigilance over all aspects of the safety 
functions.

The responsibilities of the operational functions, 
including maintaining safety certification, 
compliance with safety of life at sea and marine 
pollution prevention rules, food safety management 
as well as observance in respect of officer and crew 
certification and qualifications, are clearly separated 
from the compliance and quality assurance function 

which is responsible for ensuring that all aspects of 
safety are effectively managed.

A proactive approach is taken, and a regime of 
planned audits and inspections is maintained for 
ships, ports and support services, the results of 
which are distributed, and actions agreed with the 
relevant personnel. Risk assessments and trend 
identification form the foundation of all safety, 
environmental and security tasks.

The safety arrangements within the Group also 
involve regular reporting to the Group Safety 
Committee and to the Board, thereby providing 
an appropriate review and challenge mechanism 
regarding all safety aspects of the Group’s 
operations.

STREAMLINED ENERGY AND CARBON 
REPORTING

Environmental Policy 
The Group is committed to its ISO14001 certified 
Environmental Management System and recognize 
that protection of the environment, of its employees, 
customers, the coastal communities, and 
contractors affected by its operations, is an integral 
part of the organisation’s business performance 
and is a management priority. The Group recognises 
that its activities and services can be directly and 
indirectly responsible for environmental impacts, 
which we aim to eliminate and reduce to a 
practicable minimum.

The Group is committed to minimising the 
environmental impacts of its operations, continual 
improvement in its environmental performance, 
training and communication of environmental 
policy and programmes to all staff, sustainable 
procurement, and employment of Best Practicable 
Environmental Option (BPEO) in its activities.

Environmental Strategy
The Group’s Environmental Strategy aligns with the 
UN Sustainable Development Goals and the Scottish 
Government’s 2020 Environmental Strategy. The 
four core priority areas of the Strategy are Climate 
Action to reduce emissions from fuel combustion 
and energy consumption, Climate Action to 
prepare for climate change and manage climate 
risk, Responsible Consumption and Production to 
minimize waste and move towards circular economy 
thinking and Life under Water to protect biodiversity.

99% of the organisation’s total emissions are derived 

Current environmental programmes supporting 
the strategy include investments in monitoring, 
measurement and reporting, transitioning to more 
energy efficient, low emission transport assets, 
working with academia to reduce the impact of 
existing transport assets, operational efficiency and 
sustainability projects, improved understanding of 
the environment DML operates in and its impacts on 
the environment, reduction and improved recycling 
of wastes, ongoing staff training and communication, 
a public marine awareness programme and 
engagement with external stakeholders on related 
environmental programmes.

Climate Resilience 
The Group recognises Scotland’s long-term trends 
of warming temperatures, shifting rainfall patterns, 
rising sea levels, changes in seawater salinity 
and increases in coastal erosion and have been 
experiencing some of these changes as highly 
variable weather conditions, which bring a range 
of challenges to DML’s operations. Future climate 
change will bring additional challenges to transport 
infrastructure.

High-level climate related risks and opportunities 
have been identified and categorized as critical and 
non-critical. Climate risk has been embedded into 
the Environmental Strategy as a core action area to 
be addressed by the Group.

Methodology
The methodology used for the categorisation, 
quantification and reporting of the organisation’s 
GHG emissions is based upon and consistent with, 
the British Standard EN ISO 14064-1:2019, identical 
to International Organisation for Standardisation ISO 
14064-1:2018.

Conversions from volumetric fuel supplies to GHG 
emissions and energy (kWh) have, where possible, 
been carried out using UK Government GHG 
Conversion Factors for Company Reporting version 
2020.

Energy input (kWh) for biomass is converted to CO2e 
emissions using the woodchip conversion factor 
from Biofuels in UK Government GHG Conversion 
Factors for Company Reporting version 2020.

The Group is reporting consolidated GHG emissions 
for all operating subsidiaries within its operational 
boundaries.
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from robust, verifiable data. Vessel related emissions 
(included within direct emissions: mobile combustion, 
transport) which make up 98.52% of the organisation’s 
total emissions figure are produced from metered, 
receipted fuel supplies. Of the remaining balance of 
total emissions (1.48%) the emissions from electrical 
consumption (indirect emissions: from imported 
energy) makes up 53%. Of the total electricity supply 
data, 94.5% is meter data from ‘actual’ readings and 
so is also verifiable.

Where verifiable data could not be obtained, 
estimates of consumption were produced from 
supplier estimates, pro-rata extrapolation or, 
where no details of supply/consumption were 
made available, then benchmark locations of a 
comparable size and range of services was used 
or data from the previous year was used.

Business travel (train and coach) and waste disposal 
are not included in the total energy consumption 
(kWh) figure due to the lack of published CV 
conversion factors. 

Materiality
All sources of energy consumption and carbon 
emissions within scope have been included in the 
assessment. No sources have been excluded on a 
materiality basis.

Intensity Measurement
The organisation’s primary measure of emissions 
performance is expressed as kilograms of CO2 
equivalent (CO2e) per passenger per kilometer. This 
ratio allows the organisation to measure its primary, 
material emissions from vessel and entire operations 
relative to the primary activity level (passenger 
volume carried) in a reporting period. It allows for 
both passenger numbers and cargo weight to be 
incorporated and provides a relevant and consistent 
measure of operational efficiency and emissions whilst 
accommodating normal fluctuations in operational 
capacity.

Measures taken to improve energy efficiency
Due to the impact of the pandemic, no target was 
set for the reduction of carbon footprint or fuel 
consumption during the reporting period and the data 
from the reporting year will be treated as anomalous 
when assessing carbon reduction progress.

During the reporting period, the Group adapted 
timetables to reduce the number of sailings in 
response to the coronavirus pandemic whilst 
maintaining lifeline services. Emissions from the 
consumption of marine gas oil were reduced by 25,894 
tCO2e during the reporting period.

The Environmental Strategy sets a target to reduce 
fuel consumption by 2% year on year from the 
2019 baseline figure. Several actions have been 
planned to deliver this fuel saving, including trialing 
fuel additives, enhanced vessel maintenance and 
upgrades, continued operational behavior change and 
implementation of vessel energy efficiency plans.

During the reporting period several automatic meter 
readers have been installed to gather more reliable 
electricity and water consumption data and an 
upgrade of the Group’s data management system 
is planned for the next reporting period to further 
enhance data quality.

During the pandemic, staff travel was significantly 
reduced. The adoption of Teams technology will 
support Agile working going forward, as this has 
enabled us to connect with colleagues remotely. 

EMPLOYEES
The Group has a policy of equal opportunities and 
non-discrimination in all aspects of employment. The 
Group is committed to equality of opportunity for all 
its employees and customers, and to treating every 
member of staff and every customer with dignity and 
respect.

It is the Group’s policy to ensure that all staff can 
work in an environment free from discrimination, 
harassment, and bullying.

As a company owned by the Scottish Ministers of 
the Scottish Government, we fully subscribe to the 
Government’s Race Equality Scheme, Disability 
Scheme, and the Gender Equality Scheme. As an 
organisation, we continue to develop structures and 
systems to ensure that equal opportunities become an 
integral part of our thinking and behaviour.

Our policy for pay and conditions for our employees 
is to continue to provide a fair and appropriate 
employment package to all employees regardless of 

age, hours of work or type of employment contract. 
We are an accredited living wage employer and do 
not use zero hours contracts. Our salary packages are 
enhanced by wider pay and benefits which exceed 
statutory minimums, including generous pension 
schemes, maternity and sickness pay, holiday 
entitlement and an employee bonus scheme. This 
provides our workforce with an overall employment 
package that helps to ensure a good work-life balance, 
supports the Scottish Government’s social drivers, 
enables us to recruit and retain staff in a competitive 
labour market and supports the welfare of our people. 

We publish our Gender Pay Gap annually and work 
proactively to encourage increased diversity in what is 
traditionally a very male dominated workforce.

All these measures are kept under regular review with a 
view to identifying where improvements can be made.

EMPLOYEE CONSULTATION
The Group is committed to effective employee 
communications, which it maintains through all staff 
notices, the staff newsletters, and briefing sessions.

The Group also provides further engagement through 
active participation with our Trade Unions. Most 
employees are formally represented by Trade Unions 
recognised for collective bargaining purposes. A 
system of consultative committees is well established.

Through either the formal negotiating or consultative 
process, or a combination of both, employees at all 
levels, directly or through their representatives, are 
provided with information on matters concerning them 
and are encouraged to be involved in the activities of 
the Group.

POLICY OF EMPLOYMENT OF PEOPLE WITH 
DISABILITIES
It is the Group’s policy to consider applications for 
employment from people with disabilities on the 
same basis as other potential employees, subject to 
the nature and extent of disability and the degree of 
physical fitness demanded of the position. Ability and 
aptitude are the determining factors in the selection, 
training, career development and promotion of all 
employees with disabilities. If any employee becomes 
disabled during his/her period of employment, the 
Group will, where possible, retain the employee for 
duties commensurate with the employee’s abilities 
following the disablement.
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GHG emissions and energy use data 2021 2020

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions

Total Energy Consumption kWh 99.58% 99.89%

Scope 1, 2 & 3 401,308,619.8  504,122,608.52

CO2e Emissions from energy consumption

Total Emissions tCO2e

Scope 1, 2 & 3 102,417.94 128,380.41

Scope 1: Direct Emissions tCO2e

Mobile transport (vessels, fleet vehicles) 100,586.88 126,625.35

Stationary combustion (gas, heating oil, wood chip) 96.82 162.73

CO2 from biofuels (Out of scope) 88.20 129.15

Scope 2: Indirect Emissions from imported energy tCO2e

Electricity 863.00 906.72

Scope 3: indirect Emissions tCO2e

Business travel (private vehicle, train, coach) 537.37 683.64

Other (EV charging) 2.15 1.97

Waste disposal 297.88

Intensity Ratio

kg CO2e / passenger km (vessel emissions only) 0.1151 0.0976

kg CO2e / passenger km (whole organization emissions) 0.1173 0.099
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EMPLOYMENT RECRUITMENT
Recruitment campaigns undertaken by the Group were 
carried out based on fair and open competition and 
selection on merit. The Group companies’ recruitment/
selection records are subject to regular scrutiny 
by internal auditors. We are signed up to the Good 
Recruitment Charter and Partnership for Change.

INVESTING IN TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
To ensure continued high-quality services, we invest 
heavily in training and developing the skills of our 
current and future workforce. Our training programmes 
provide for both mandatory and developmental 
training for all staff. In addition to our officer cadet 
programme, we are a leading provider of maritime 
apprenticeships in deck, engine, and hospitality. 

Whilst we have always prioritised Health and Safety 
learning and development for our staff, this year 
more than ever we have placed a particular focus on 
wellbeing and mental health training. In partnership 
with the Scottish Trade Union Learning Fund, we 
trained more Mental Health First Aiders growing our 
network to 60 staff from across the organisation and 
continued to deliver our Mental Health Awareness 
Training for line managers.

We continue to invest in extensive Leadership Training. 
A total of 177 staff from all areas of the organisation 
have completed our Developing Leaders Programme 
to date. This is a significant investment of more than 
£300,000 in our population of 340+ leaders.

The programme is delivered in partnership with Stirling 
based training provider The Leadership Factory and 
focuses on the following: -

•  formal workshops covering the role of leaders, 
leading through change, high performing culture, 
high performing teams, coaching and personal 
development planning,

• personal coaching,

• personality profiling.

During the year, we transitioned the Leadership 
Development Programme to virtual delivery ensuring 
continuity during the pandemic restrictions and will 
retain this approach until the programme completes.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
Our performance management framework consists 
of a cycle of objective setting, personal development 
planning, mid-year reviews and end of year appraisals. 
Objectives are set to support achievement of our 
business plan. A key part of the process is to discuss 
behaviours and ensure that our staff are operating in 
accordance with our core competencies and values. 
Managers are trained in how to manage performance 
effectively as part of our Management and Leadership 
Academy Framework, with further support provided 
through online guidance notes and toolkits, and 
coaching.

ATTENDANCE MANAGEMENT
The Group accepts that employees will be prevented 
from attending work due to illness or injury from time 
to time. Although the Group recognises that employees 
need to be properly supported during absences, our 
priority is to meet our operational objectives. As a 
result, we take distinct steps to balance the needs 
of the individual with the needs of the Group and to 
manage sickness absence effectively. To achieve this 
balance, we take a positive and pro-active approach to 
attendance management including: 

•  advising all employees and line managers of their 
roles and responsibilities through appropriate 
training, guidance, and support,

•  consistent application of our Attendance 
Management Policy, agreed with the support of our 
trade union partners,

•  early intervention and return to work support from a 
third-party Occupational Health provider in cases of 
longer-term sickness absence,

•  a confidential, third-party Employee Assistance 
Programme.

The policy provides support for employees via our 
Occupational Health provider to facilitate a safe and 
timely return to work. Equally, the policy sets out a 
series of triggers, warnings, and formal monitoring 
procedures to manage employees with frequent 
absences in a fair and consistent manner.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY
A whistleblowing policy has been in place covering 
all David MacBrayne Limited Group companies since 
2012. This policy is in adherence with the guidance 
published in the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 
and provides assurances for staff who may wish to 
raise areas of critical concern. The Group introduced 
this procedure to enable staff to raise concerns about 
suspected malpractice at an early stage and in the 
right way. The whistleblowing procedure is primarily 
for concerns where the interests of others or of the 
organisation itself are at risk, as opposed to the 
grievance procedure, which deals with situations 
where employees feel aggrieved about their personal 
positions.

POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS
The Group made no political or charitable donations 
during the year. However, Group companies support 
a range of local organisations through travel-related 
sponsorship. CalMac Ferries Limited were the main 
commercial supporter of the Royal National Mod.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The Group does not undertake research and 
development activities directly. We do work with 
universities and other supplier parties to support 
ongoing future innovation.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group’s risk management objectives and policy are 
set out in note 17 of the financial statements.

The Group utilises commodity derivatives to mitigate 
the pricing risk in relation to vessel fuel costs (on 
behalf of Transport Scotland).

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR
The Directors who held office at the date of approval 
of this Directors’ Report confirm that, as far as they 
are each aware, there is no relevant audit information 
of which the Group’s auditor is unaware and each 
Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to 
have taken as a director to make himself/herself aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the Group’s auditors are aware of that information.

AUDITOR
A resolution to re-appoint KPMG LLP as Group and 
Company auditors will be put to the members at the 
Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Duncan Mackison
Chief Executive
3 November 2021
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•  assess the Group and parent company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and 

•  use the going concern basis of accounting unless 
they either intend to liquidate the Group or the 
parent company or to cease operations or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the parent company’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the parent company and enable 
them to ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and have general 
responsibility for taking such steps as are open to 
them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to 
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the company’s website. 
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Governance
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DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE 
STRATEGIC REPORT, THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the 
Group and parent company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
group and parent company financial statements 
for each financial year. Under that law they have 
elected to prepare the Group financial statements 
in accordance with international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and applicable law and have 
elected to prepare the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with UK accounting 
standards and applicable law (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 
Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the Directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the situation of 
the Group and parent company and of the Group’s 
profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the 
Group and parent company financial statements, 
the Directors are required to: -

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently. 

•  make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable, relevant, reliable, and prudent. 

•  for the Group financial statements, state whether 
they have been prepared in accordance with 
international accounting standards in conformity 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

•  for the parent company financial statements, 
state whether applicable UK accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements. 
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The only downside I can see with the ferry service 
is if you don’t make it quite on time to be ready to 
go on board, then you get left behind which from a 
company perspective, that costs money. We can’t 
always jump and be there bang on time – that’s the 
only downfall. 

Saying that, CalMac offers a very good service and 
the staff are very friendly and customer focussed. 
I’ve got to know a few of the staff and other 
commuters which makes it a better experience as 
there’s good camaraderie and you can have a bit of 
a laugh with them. Some of the staff are actually my 
customers as well. 

CalMac operates differently from the other 
ferry companies that are not subsidised by the 
government. Come rough weather, the commercial 
operators have to sail or they don’t get paid, whereas 
CalMac put the safety of people first. Sometimes 
with the other ferries, you think, should these boats 
be sailing in this weather?!

Our People
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5 days
 I travel via CalMac

a week

The staff training on customer 
service is really good. Even my 
boy who’s 11 and has autism 
actually interacts with them – 
he doesn’t usually interact with 
strangers. The staff have got to 
know his name and he talks away 
quite happily to them.

CalMac puts the safety of  
people first.

COLIN GILLESPIE 
COMMUTER
Colin Gillespie travels to the 
islands weekly in his role 
as the service engineer for 
Hotpoint UK. 
I currently work as a service engineer for Hotpoint 
UK and I travel via CalMac five days of the week, 
sometimes I can be travelling up to four times a day 
on the ferry, going to and from Wemyss Bay.

Without the ferry service, it would certainly dampen 
a lot of jobs. I 
wouldn’t have a 
job. There’s not 
enough work 
on the island or 
Argyll to sustain 
my workload so I 
have to travel. 

CalMac has many 
good qualities. 
The frequency 
of the ferries for 
example. A lot 
of ferry services 
wouldn’t run as 
often – the shuttle service to Bute goes back and 
forwards, so you always have a boat sailing. A lot of 
companies would say your next sailing is in three 
hours time.

The service is reliable – in fourteen years of 
travelling with this company I’ve only been stuck 
twice. I’ve also got the app which works well and 
keeps me up to date of the services. 

The staff training on customer service is really 
good. Even my boy who’s 11 and has autism actually 
interacts with them – he doesn’t usually interact 
with strangers. The staff have got to know his name 
and he talks away quite happily to them. He used to 
be quite scared of the rough weather but if the staff 
notice it, they speak to him, and reassure him and 
keep him entertained. There’s people he’s known for 
years he wouldn’t talk to. It’s good to see. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF DAVID MACBRAYNE LTD

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of David MacBrayne Limited (the company”) for the year ended 31 
March 2021 which comprise the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated balance sheet, consolidated cash flow 
statement, company balance sheet, company statement in changes in equity and related notes, including the 
accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion:

•  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2021 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended; 

•  the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; 

•  the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting 
standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and 

•  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are 
independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Going concern 
The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to 
liquidate the group or the company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the group and 
the company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material 
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a 
year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the group’s business model 
and analysed how those risks might affect the group and company’s financial resources or ability to continue 
operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

•  we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate;

•  we have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty 
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group or the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes 
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions 
are not a guarantee that the group or the company will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that could 
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment 
procedures included:

•  Enquiring of directors as to the Group’s high–level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, 
including the internal audit function, and the Group’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have 
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

•  Reading Board minutes.

•  Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud 
throughout the audit.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We performed procedures including identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test based on risk 
criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included those posted by 
senior finance management, those including key words in description and those posted to unrelated accounts.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non–compliance with laws and 
regulations
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the 
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, through discussion with the directors 
and other management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors and other 
management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations. 

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of 
non–compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial 
reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation 
legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures 
on the related financial statement items. 

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non–compliance 
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the 
imposition of fines or litigation or loss of legal ability to operate. We identified the following areas as those most 
likely to have such an effect: health and safety, employment law. Auditing standards limit the required audit 
procedures to identify non–compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other 
management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore if a breach of operational 
regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some 
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non–compliance with laws and 
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently 
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it. 

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non–detection of fraud, as these may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit 
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non–
compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non–compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report 
The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, 
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based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work: 

•  we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report; 

•  in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial 
statements; and 

•  in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

•  the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

•  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities
As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 68 to 69, the directors are responsible for: the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the group and parent company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Michael Wilkie (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
319 St Vincent Street
Glasgow
G2 5AS 
xxx 2021 
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GROUP INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

   2021 2020
  NOTE £000 £000

     

Revenue    2  198,657  224,635
       
Cost of sales      (168,371)  (188,530)

     

Gross profit      30,286 36,105
Administrative expenses      (25,255)  (33,032)

Operating Profit      5,031  3,073
     

Finance income and costs    5  (1,494)  (1,515)
Share of (loss) in joint venture   16  (87)  (1,267)

     

Profit before tax    4  3,450  291
     

Taxation    7  (747)  (387)
Profit/(Loss) for the year     2,703  (96)

   

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2021
   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Profit/(Loss) for the year      2,703  (96)
  

Other comprehensive income, net of tax    –  –
Change in value of cash flow hedge recognised  19  8,424 (11,738)
Tax relating to cash flow hedge   7  –  784

 

Total comprehensive income/(expenditure) attributable  
to equity holders of the parent     11,127  (11,050)
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GROUP BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

  2021 2020
 NOTE £000 £000

Non–current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 7 59,658 75,852
Derivative financial instruments 8 465 –
Deferred tax 9 470 705
      60,593 76,557

Current assets 
Inventories 10 2,319 1,791
Contract assets 2 20,138 8,559
Trade and other receivables 11 11,867 7,810
Cash and cash equivalents 12 22,166 38,145
Derivative financial instruments 8 833 –
Total current assets  57,323 56,305

Total assets  117,916 132,862

Current liabilities 
Contract liabilities 2 (3,661) (4,081)
Trade and other payables 13 (19,702) (20,266)
Derivative financial instruments 8 – (3,173)
Lease liability 14 (15,537) (14,486)
Deferred Income  (724) –
Total current liabilities  (39,624) (42,006)

 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 
Lease liability 16 (47,266) (62,064)
Equity – accounted investees 15 (2,039) (1,979)
Derivative financial liabilities 8 – (3,953)
Total liabilities  (88,929) (110,002)

 

Net assets      28,987 22,860

Equity  
Share capital 17 5,500 5,500
Hedge reserve 18 1,298 (7,126)
Retained earnings  22,189 24,486

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent   28,987 22,860

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on xxx 2021 on its behalf by:

D C McGibbon, Chairman D Mackison, Chief Executive

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

 2021 2020
 NOTE  £000 £000

 

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(Loss) for the year 2,703 (96)
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and impairment 17,057 17,359
Finance income (91) (418)
Finance expenditure 1,585 2,023
Income tax expense/(credit) 747 387
Share of loss of joint ventures 87 1,267
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital   22,088 20,522
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (3,112) 1,567
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets (11,579) 8,491
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (420) 1,277
Decrease/(increase) in inventories (528) (527)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables    (699) (991)
Decrease/(increase) in payables to related parties – 80

 

Cash (absorbed by) operations     5,750 30,419
Tax paid (413) (127)

 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 5,337 30,292

Cash flows from investing activities 
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment – (210)
Net proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – –
Interest received 91 419
Net cash inflow from investing activities 91 209

 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Payment of lease liability (14,590) (15,378)
Capital Grants (232) –
Interest paid and similar charges (1,585) (2,057)
Dividends paid (5,000) 
Net cash inflow from financing activities (21,406) (17,435)

 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (15,979) 13,066
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April     38,145 25,079

 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  12   22,166  38,145

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

 SHARE HEDGE RETAINED TOTAL
 CAPITAL RESERVE EARNINGS EQUITY
 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2019  5,500  3,828  24,582  33,910
Loss for the year  –  –  (96)  (96)
Other comprehensive expenditure  – (10,954)  –  (10,954)

     

At 31 March 2020  5,500  (7,126)  24,486  22,860

At 1 April 2020  5,500  (7,126)  24,486  22,860
Profit for the year  –  –  2,703  2,703
Dividends paid in the year  –  –  (5,000)  (5,000)
Other comprehensive income –  8,424  –  8,424

At 31 March 2021  5,500  1,298  22,189  28,987

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
David MacBrayne Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
“Group”). The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with UK 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; these are set out on 
pages 104 to 113. The parent company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate 
entity and not about the Group.

Change in accounting policy
Except for the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies to all periods presented 
in these consolidated financial statements.

Standards issued but not yet effective
•  Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

•  Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Definition of a Business’

•  Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ and IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors’: ‘Definition of Material’

•  Amendments to IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’. IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, 
and IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’: ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

•  Amendments to IFRS 4 ‘insurance contract’ Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS9 
‘Financial Instruments’.

The future application of this pronouncement is not expected to have a material impact on the group’s accounting 
policies, financial position or performance.

Several new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 April 2019 and earlier application 
is permitted, however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing these 
consolidated financial statements.

Impact of Brexit
After the end of the Brexit transition period (31 December 2020) the UK ceased to be subject to EU law. Under the 
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, all existing IFRSs adopted by the EU at that time have been ‘frozen’ into 
UK law thus were considered as in force in the UK at the end of the transition period. Adoptions, interpretations 
and amendments of IFRS adopted by the EU after the end of the transition period will no longer apply in the UK. 
For subsequent financial years, companies must use UK–adopted IFRS. At the end of the transition period, those 
standards will be identical to the EU–adopted IFRS in force on that date, but subsequently the UK has established 
its own endorsement process to adopt UK–adopted IFRS, interpretations and amendments of IFRS. For the year 
ended 31 March 2021 companies therefore have the option to use any standards which have been adopted for use 
within the UK in addition to the frozen EU–adopted IFRS.

In previous years, the consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU 
at the date of approval of the accounts and which were mandatory for each financial year. In line with the above, 
the consolidated accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been prepared in accordance with the 
‘frozen’ IFRS as adopted by the EU in accordance with the International Accounting Standards and European 
Public Limited–Liability Company (Amendment etc.) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019. The accounts for financial 
year beginning 1 April 2021, will be prepared inaccordance with IFRS as adopted by the UK. The changes in the 
way that IFRS are described as a result of the UK’s exit from the EU, including the move to UK–adopted IFRS for 
accounting periods starting on or after 1 April 2021, do not represent a change in the basis of preparation which 
would necessitate a prior year restatement.
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Basis of preparation
The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 
in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The consolidated accounts are prepared in 
accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 1. Monetary amounts are presented in pounds Sterling 
and rounded to the nearest hundred thousand unless otherwise indicated. The consolidated accounts are 
prepared on the historical cost basis apart from certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Going concern
The Directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis, which they consider to be 
appropriate for the following reasons.

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and position, are 
set out in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report on pages 6 to 68. 

A key source of income for the Group is the CHFS 2 contract subsidy from Transport Scotland and, during 
the COVID–19 pandemic, additional payments have been received by the Group from Transport Scotland in 
recognition of the reduced levels of fare revenue resulting from government imposed restrictions on the public, 
including the use of public transport. The Group has recorded a profit after tax in the current financial year and 
the Company’s balance sheet shows that it has net current assets of £16.9 million as at 31 March 2021. 

For the purposes of the Directors’ assessment of the Group’s going concern position, and to satisfy them of the 
Group’s ability to pay its liabilities as they fall due, the Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast for a period 
of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements that reflect various plausible scenarios as 
a result of COVID–19 and its impact on the Group. Specifically, they have considered a severe, but plausible, 
downside scenario, including in a sustained decrease in fare revenue, in line with that which was experienced 
during the initial lockdown period. In the initial period of lockdown and to date, additional funding was received, 
under contract variation, from Transport Scotland. While the Directors expect that this will continue it is subject 
to ongoing approval by Transport Scotland. In the severe but plausible downside the Directors assume continued 
restrictions on travel and social distancing for a period, and that further contract variations will continue through 
to March 2022 and that thereafter such variations and associated additional payments are not received.

The cash flow forecasts indicate that, after taking account of this severe, but plausible, downside, as result of 
the impact of the COVID–19 pandemic, the Group’s existing resources are sufficient to enable it to trade and pay 
its liabilities as they fall due for the forecast period, without using the £15m drawdown facility that they have 
available through the bank

Consequently, the Directors are confident that the Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet 
its liabilities, as they fall due, for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and 
therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Estimates and judgments
The Directors make judgements, estimates and assumptions concerning the future based on experience and 
various other factors which are considered to be reasonable in the circumstances. The actual results may differ 
from these estimates. The key estimates and assumptions are in relation to the recognition of revenue in respect 
of contracts with customers and the fair value of any fuel hedges. The basis of assessment of these is explained 
later in this note 1 and 2.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 
out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Group 
financial statements.

Measurement convention
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial instruments and derivative 
financial instruments, where applicable, are stated at fair value.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases.

Joint ventures
A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net 
assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at cost. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or 
loss and OCI of equity accounted investees, until the date on which joint control ceases.

Financial instruments
(i) Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial 
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability 
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing 
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets
(a) Classification

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its 
business model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first 
day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:

 •  it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 •  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment–by–
investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at 
FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL 
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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Investments in joint ventures and subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held with the bank.

(b) Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL – these assets (other than derivatives designated as hedging instruments) are 
subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost – these assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange 
gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised 
in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following 
two conditions:

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or 
to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the Company; and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non–
derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is 
a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a 
fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where 
the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these 
financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those 
shares.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified at 
FVTPL if it is classified as held–for–trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, 
are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of 
any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see below).

Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised 
asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative 
financial instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is 
recognised immediately in the income statement.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non–financial item (including a non–
financial item that becomes a firm commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is applied – see below), 

the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging reserve and is included in the initial carrying 
amount of the non–financial asset or liability.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash 
flows affects profit or loss.

When the hedging instrument is sold, expires, is terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the 
hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at 
that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. 
If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss in equity is 
recognised in the income statement immediately.

Fair value hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in fair value of a recognised 
asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, all changes in the fair value of the derivative are 
recognised immediately in the income statement. The carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted by the 
change in fair value that is attributable to the risk being hedged (even if it is normally carried at cost or amortised 
cost) and any gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised immediately in the income statement (even if 
those gains would normally be recognised directly in reserves).

On the discontinuance of hedge accounting, any adjustment made to the carrying amount of the hedged item as 
a consequence of the fair value hedge relationship, is recognised in the income statement over the remaining life 
of the hedged item.

(iv) Impairment

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, debt investments measured at FVOCI and contract assets (as defined in IFRS 15).

The Company measured loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for other debt securities 
and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial 
instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition, which are measured as twelve–month ECL.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, 
based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward–looking 
information.

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days 
past due.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

 •  the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the 
Company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

 •  the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument.

Twelve–month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the twelve 
months after the reporting date, or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than  
twelve months.
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The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

•  fixed payments, including in–substance fixed payments; 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The Group presents right–of–use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant 
and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in the statement of financial position.

Short–term leases and leases of low–value assets 
The Group has elected not to recognise right–of–use assets and lease liabilities for low–value assets and short–
term leases. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight–
line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets
Costs of development of computer software which are directly attributable to the design and testing of 
identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are capitalised and are depreciated over the 
anticipated useful life of the relevant asset.

Costs associated with the maintenance of computer software programmes are treated as an expense as and 
when incurred.

Inventories
Retail inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable selling expenses. Inventories in relation to fuels, 
lubricants and consumable stores are stated at cost. Cost is based on the weighted average principle and 
includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the relevant inventories and other costs incurred in bringing them to 
their existing location and condition.

Foreign currency translation
Day to day transactions, which mainly relate to on board sales turnover, are recorded in sterling at the exchange 
rates ruling on the dates of those transactions.

Impairment excluding inventories and deferred tax assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment; if any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash–generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. The recoverable amount 
is the greater of their fair values less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre–tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash–generating unit to which the asset belongs. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of 
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets.

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the 
Company is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability–weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all 
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.) ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the 
financial asset.

Credit–impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt 
securities at FVOCI are credit–impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit–impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Write–offs
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Vessels acquired by David MacBrayne Limited have a carrying value based on the revaluation carried out on 24 
March 2020.

Where constituent parts of an item of property, plant or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. The carrying amount of any replaced item of property, 
plant and equipment is derecognised. All expenditure relating to repairs and maintenance of property, plant and 
equipment is charged to the income statement as and when incurred.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight–line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
item or, where appropriate, part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The 
estimated useful lives are as follows:

  ships   30 years

  plant and equipment between 3 and 6 years

  motor vehicles  3 years

Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each year end.

Leases
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

The Group recognises a right–of–use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right–of–
use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate 
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentives received.

The right–of–use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight–line method from the commencement 
date to the end of the lease term.
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amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.

Dividend policy
The Board of Directors may recommend and pay a dividend to the Shareholder, acting in the best interests of the 
Company, with regard to their fiduciary duties outlined in the Companies Act.

Employee benefits
The companies comprising the Group are participating employers in the CalMac Pension Scheme, which is a 
defined benefit scheme operated by Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited. Certain subsidiary undertakings are 
also participating employers in the Ensign Retirement plan. The assets of each scheme are held separately from 
those of the participating employers in independently administered funds. As more fully set out in note 20, the 
amount charged in the income statement represents the contributions payable to each scheme in respect of the 
financial year.

New employees are auto–enrolled into a stakeholder pension scheme. They can choose to opt out of this scheme 
and enrol in the existing final salary scheme at appropriate times during the year.

Revenue
Accounting policy for revenue is described in note 2. 

Capital grants
Capital grants are deferred and taken to the income statement over the anticipated lives of the assets to which 
they relate.

Expenses

Maintenance and repair costs
Routine maintenance and repair costs, as well as vessel overhaul costs, are charged in the income statement in 
the financial year in which the work is performed. Where any Group company charters vessels in providing ferry 
services under a fixed–term contract, at contract end, independent vessel surveys are carried out to establish 
any work required and an accrual is made for the estimated cost of any such work.

Finance income and expenses
Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested and movements in the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective 
interest method.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income 
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised 
in equity.

The Group is elected into tonnage tax. However, certain activities within the Group are liable to corporation tax. 
Accordingly, the charge for taxation is based partly on ship tonnage and partly on the result for the year and takes 
into account tax deferred because of timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and 
accounting purposes.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is 

based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

2. REVENUE
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises 
revenue when it transfers control over a product or service to a customer.

Nature of goods and services
The following is a description of principal activities from which the Group generates its revenues.

Revenue from passengers comprises ticket sales for individuals, and vehicle ferry passage and associated retail 
operation.

The Group operates the Clyde and Hebrides ferry service contract on behalf of the Scottish Government, for 
which it receives subsidy revenue. The CHFS2 contract was awarded to the Group with a start date of 1 October 
2016 and runs for eight years. CalMac Ferries Limited will continue to operate Clyde and Hebrides ferry services. 
The contracts provide the Group with revenue to subsidise the lifeline services provided.

Products and Services Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and 
significant payment terms.

Fares The Group recognises revenue when the sailing associated 
with the ticket sold occurs. The amount is equal to the value of 
the ticket price. Receipts for advanced tickets are recognised 
with reference to the day of travel with the deferred element 
maintained on the balance sheet within contract liabilities. 

Contracts with Government The CHFS2 contract is paid on a straight line basis, monthly 
in arrears over the contract year. The Group recognises 
revenue as the services under the contract are provided. This 
is deemed to be over time over the length of each contact 
year and is based on a cost less revenue plus method. If the 
group has recognised revenue for which payment has not been 
received, the entitlement to consideration is recognised as a 
contract asset. The contract asset is transferred to receivables 
when the entitlement to payment becomes unconditional. 
Where there is variable consideration, and other constraints 
to the assessment of the transaction price, the total forecast 
value is restricted to that amount to which a subsequent 
reversal is not highly probable. This includes performance 
deductions and profit sharing arrangements.
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Disaggregation of revenue
In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by service line and timing of revenue recognition. The table also 
includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue by reportable segment.

YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2021   CLYDE & PERTH GROUP
  HEBRIDES HARBOUR SERVICES TOTAL
  £000 £000 £000 £000

Fares and other associated services 
transferred at a point in time  38,512 214 3,083 41,809
Government contract – 
transferred over time  156,617 – 231 156,848
Total  195,129 214 3,314 198,657

Contract balances
The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts 
with customers.
  2021 2020
  £000 £000

  

Contract assets 20,138 8,559
Contract liabilities (3,661) (4,081)
Trade receivables 5,015 2,786

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for services delivered but not billed 
at 31 March 2021 on the CHFS2 contract. The contract liabilities primarily relate to the revenue associated with 
advance tickets purchased by customers for future sailings.

Significant changes in the contract assets and contract liabilities balances during during the year are as follows:

 2021 2020 2021 2020
 CONTRACT CONTRACT CONTRACT CONTRACT
 ASSETS ASSETS LIABILITIES LIABILITIES

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability 
balance at the beginning of the year –  – (4,081) (5,358)
Increases due to cash received, excluding amounts 
recognised as revenue during the period –  – (3,661) (4,081)
Increases as a result of changes in the 
measure of progress 20,138  8,559 – –

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information about 
remaining performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less.

3. Profit before tax

THE PROFIT BEFORE TAX IS STATED AFTER CHARGING/(CREDITING): 2021 2020
   £000 £000

  

Auditor’s remuneration – audit of these financial statements 27  16
  – audit of financial statements of subsidiaries   
   pursuant to legislation 73 64
  – other services relating to tax 24  23
  – other assurance services 33  72
  – all other services 8 119
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
(included within Group services segment) 17,057 17,172
Agency staff costs  1,776 2,703
Harbour access charges – Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited 14,898 17,235
  – other 12,204 16,498
Interest receivable  (91) (418)
Interest payable  7  –
Bank facility fee  72 66
Finance interest expense  1,585 1,933

4. Finance income and costs

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Bank interest receivable  91 418
Bank interest payable  –  –
Finance interest payable  (1,585) (1,933)
Net finance income and costs (1,494) (1,515)
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5. Employee information

Staff costs (including Directors)

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Wages and salaries  72,344 73,620
Social security costs  3,415 3,366
Other pension costs  17,276 21,034
   93,035 98,020

Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 57.

Pension costs include £nil contribution to the CalMac pension fund during the year (2020:£4.6m).

Amounts claimed and receivable or received by the company under the Job Retention Scheme, having met the 
conditions for payment, are Government grants which are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over 
the periods in which the company recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to 
compensate.

Employee numbers
The average number of people employed by the Group, including Directors, during the year was 1,761 (2020: 1,812).

   2021 2020

Head office  318 328
Port   366 360
Vessel  1,077 1,124
       1,761 1,812

6. Taxation 

Recognised in the income statement

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Current tax
UK corporation tax profit for the period    519 26
Adjustment in respect of prior periods    23  228
Consortium relief      –  76
Current tax expense      542  330

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences    311  32
Impact of tax rate change      –  (77)
Adjustment in respect of prior periods    (79)  180
Deferred tax charge      232  135
Share of joint venture tax      (27)  (78)
Total tax charge      747  387

INCOME TAX RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
   2021 2020

   £000 £000

Tax relating to cash flow hedge     –  (784)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Profit/(Loss) before tax      3,450  292

Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2020:19%)   655  56
Tax effects of:  
Tonnage tax      (124)  (167)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes    43  96
Non taxable income      (8)  (12)
Exclusion of joint ventures’ profits/losses    (10)  87
Adjustment in respect of prior years     (56)  408
Deferred tax previously unrecognised     –  (4)
Impact of rate change      –  (77)
Reversal of deferred tax asset previously not recognised   247  -
Total tax charge      747  387

 
The Group is elected into tonnage tax. However, certain activities within the Group are liable to corporation tax. 
Tonnage tax is levied wholly on the net tonnage of certain vessels operated by the Group. Accordingly, the amount 
of tonnage tax payable is not affected by the amount of accounting profits or losses related to the associated 
entities.

A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 17% (effective 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted 
on 6 September 2016. The March 2020 Budget announced that a rate of 19% would continue to apply with effect 
from 1 April 2020, and this change was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020. The UK deferred tax liability as at 
31 March 2021 was calculated at 19% (2020: 19%). 

An increase in the UK corporation rate from 19% to 25% (effective 1 April 2023) was substantively enacted on 24 
May 2021. This will increase the Company’s future current tax charge accordingly and increase the deferred tax  
by £149k.
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7. Property, plant and equipment
 
 SHIPS BUILDINGS VEHICLES & EQUIPMENT TOTAL
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 April 2020 91,521 2,050 1,000 94,571
Additions in the year  693 – 173 866
Disposals in the year  – – – –
Items re–classified during year  – – (3) (3)
At 31 March 2021 92,214 2,050 1,170 95,434

Depreciation and impairment 
At 1 April 2020 18,073 396 250 18,719
Charge for the year 16,396 396 265 17,057
Disposals in the year – – –
At 31 March 2021 34,469 792 515 35,776
Net book value at 31 March 2021 57,745 1,258 655 59,658
Net book value at 31 March 2020 73,448 1,654 750 75,852

Property, plant and equipment includes right–of–use assets with carrying amounts as follows:

Right of use assets – IFRS16

 SHIPS BUILDINGS VEHICLES & EQUIPMENT TOTAL
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost 
At 1 April 2020 88,960 2,050 677 91,687
Additions during period 693 – 173 866
At 31 March 2021 89,653 2,050 850 92,553

Depreciation and impairment 
At 1 April 2020 16,177 396 149 16,722
Charge for the year 16,331 396 158 16,885
At 31 March 2021 32,508 792 307 33,607
Net book value at 31 March 2021 57,145 1,258 543 58,946
Net book value at 31 March 2020 72,783 1,654 528 74,965

8. Derivative financial Instruments

  2021   2020 
  ASSETS LIABILITIES  ASSETS LIABILITIES 
  NON–  NON–  NON–  NON–
 CURRENT CURRENT CURRENT CURRENT CURRENT CURRENT CURRENT CURRENT
 £M £M £M £M £M £M £M £M

Hedging derivatives        
Cash flow hedge        
Fuel hedge 833 465 – – – – (3,173) (3,953)

9. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

 ASSETS LIABILITIES ASSETS LIABILITIES NET NET
 2021 2021 2020 2020 2021 2020
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment  646 – 669 – 646 669
Financial assets  –  (247) – – (247) –
Other timing differences  71 – 36 – 71  36

         
   717 (247) 705 – 470 705

   

Movements in deferred tax during the year

 1 APRIL RECOGNISED 31 MARCH
 2020 IN INCOME 2021
 £000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment  669 (23) 646
Financial assets  – (247) (247)
Other timing differences  36 35 71 
 
Net asset  705 (235) 470

  
Movements in deferred tax during the previous year
 1 APRIL RECOGNISED 31 MARCH
 2019 IN INCOME 2020
 £000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment  823 (154) 669
Financial assets  (784) 784  –
Other timing differences  16 20  36
Net asset  55 650 705
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11. Trade and other receivables

 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Trade receivables 5,015 2,786
Other receivables 2,319 1,326
Prepayments and accrued income 4,533 3,698
 11,867 7,810

Trade receivables are shown net of the expected credit loss as detailed in Note 16.

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables are all expressed in £ sterling.

Other receivables includes insurance claims, fuel tax and value added tax recoverable.

12. Cash and cash equivalents and short term deposits

 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 22,166 38,145
Bank balances and cash in hand 22,166 38,145

Cash at 31 March 2020 includes £10.4m subsidy payment, due April 2020.

13. Trade and other payables

 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Trade payables 8,938 5,486
Other payables and accruals 10,246 14,397
Derivative financial instruments – 3,173
Corporation tax 518 383
 19,702 23,439

All trade and other payables were expected to be settled within twelve months in relation to both this and the 
previous year.

14. Leases

Leases as a lessee

Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets related to lease properties that do not meet the definition of investment properties are 
presented as property, plant and equipment. See note 8.

  VEHICLES &
 BUILDINGS EQUIPMENT SHIPS TOTAL
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2020 1,654 528 72,783 74,965
Additions during the period - 173 693 866
Depreciation charge for the year (396) (158) (16,331) (16,885)
Balance at 31 March 2021 1,258 543 57,145  58,946

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss for which the Group is a lessee:

Leases under IFRS 16

 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,585 1,966

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows

 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Total cash outflow for leases (14,590) (15,378)

  VEHICLES &
 VESSELS PROPERTY PLANT
 £000 £000 £000

Lease liability maturity schedule 
Within 1 year 15,004 355 178
1–2 years 15,847 372 172
2–3 years 16,741 389 112
3–4 years 13,345 199 84
4–25 years - - 5
 60,937 1,315 551

Financial Statements 

DAVID MACBRAYNE ANNUAL REPORT 2021  97

10. Inventories 

 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Fuels and lubricants 432 502
Consumable stores 1,816 1,038
Retail inventories 71 251
 2,319 1,791

  
Fuels and lubricants, consumable stores and retail inventories recognised in cost of sales £15.3m (2020: £21.9m).

Non-retail inventories are held for the operating requirements of the Group and not for resale. Of the retail stocks 
held, £nil was expected to be recovered after more than twelve months in both this and the previous year. 
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15. Equity – accounted investees

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Interest in joint venture       (2,039) (1,979)
Balance at 1 April      (1,979)  (884)
Share of (loss)      (87)  (1,267)
Tax      27  172
Balance at 31 March      (2,039)   (1,979)

   2021 2020
   % %

Percentage ownership interest     50  50
Fixed assets      39,397  41,114
Current assets (including cash & cash equivalents of £1.6m)   4,686  5,185
Current liabilities      (3,800)  (3,519)
Amounts falling due after more than one year    (44,361)  (46,738)
Net liabilities (100%)      (4,078)  (3,958)
Group’s share of net liabilities (50%)     (2,039)  (1,979)
Carrying amount of interest in joint venture    (2,039)  (1,979)
Revenue      8,823  6,877
Cost of sales      (7,003)  (7,170)
Administration expenses      (556)  (1,020)
Finance expenditure      (1,438)  (1,221)
Taxation      –  –
Profit/(loss) & total comprehensive income (100%)   (174)  (2,534)
Group’s share of profit/(loss) & total comprehensive income (50%)  (87)  (1,267)

Solent Gateway Limited is a joint venture owned and controlled 50% by David MacBrayne Limited and 50% by GBA 
(Holdings) Limited.

The joint venture operates the port at Marchwood under a 35 year contract with the Ministry of Defence.

Year end loss reflects the inclusion of IFRS16 lease accounting in relation to the guaranteed rental lease within 
Solent Gateway Limited.

 
16. Financial instruments

Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
•  credit risk
•  liquidity risk
•  market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further 
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and overview of the Group’s risk management framework.

The Audit & Risk Committee oversees management procedures in monitoring compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to 
the risks faced by the Group.

Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables. The amounts included in the 
balance sheet are net of the expected credit loss, which have been estimated by management based on prior 
experience and known factors at the balance sheet date, which may indicate that a provision is required.

Counterparties for cash and short term deposits are limited to financial institutions which have a high credit rating. 

Trade receivables
There are well-established systems of credit control in place throughout the Group. These incorporate formal 
credit application procedures including credit checks, regular monitoring of customers’ accounts by dedicated 
credit controllers and, where considered appropriate, the use of credit insurance facilities.

Other receivables 
Other receivables largely consist of fuel tax recoverable and vessel damage insurance claims.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk is that it will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

CalMac has a revolving credit facility of £15m with no fixed repayment before maturity. £nil balance is drawn at 31 
March 2021 from the revolving credit facility.

The Group has significant cash resources at the balance sheet date.

Market risk

Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s market risk is primarily that changes in market prices, such as fuel prices, will affect the Group’s 
cost base or the value of its holdings of financial instruments which the Group may seek to minimise through 
hedge arrangements designed to manage a substantial proportion of the Group’s overall exposure. The hedge 
arrangements take account of the different fuel types which the Group purchases.

The risk associated with the volatility of marine fuel has been mitigated by entering a three-year fixed price fuel 
hedge from October 2017 to September 2020. A further hedge was entered into during the year until September 
2022.

Under the terms of the respective public service contracts, under which the main operating companies provide 
ferry services, the risk related to the material movement on fuel prices at any time is taken by the Scottish 
Government.

The Directors consider that these arrangements provide appropriate stability of the Group’s cost base in this 
significant expense area.

Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date was:
 NOTE  CARRYING AMOUNT
    2021 2020
    £000 £000

Trade and other receivables  12   5,015  3,827
Cash and cash equivalents  13   22,166  38,145
      27,181  41,972

 

The balance of trade and other receivables shown excludes prepayments and statutory receivables which are not 
classified as financial instruments. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread 
across a large number of customers.
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Expected credit loss
The ageing of trade receivables (all of which relate to UK counterparties) at the reporting date was:

  2021 2020
 GROSS IMPAIRMENT GROSS IMPAIRMENT
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Not past due  3,924  2  2,058  8
Past due 0–30 days  864  2  483  19
Past due 31–120 days  228  3  228  25
More than 120 days  (1)  –  17  4
  5,015  7  2,786  56

The individually impaired receivables relate to customers facing cash flow problems as a result of the current 
difficult trading conditions. All other receivables are expected to be recovered within 6 months from the year end 
date.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Balance at beginning of year     56  96
Expected credit loss during year     (49)  (40)
Balance at end of year      7  56

Impairment losses are accounted for separately unless the Group is satisfied that there is no likelihood of 
recovery of the amount owing, in which case the amount is considered irrecoverable and is written off against the 
financial asset directly.

Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the year end date.

31 March 20201

  CARRYING CONTRACTUAL 6 MONTHS
  AMOUNT CASH FLOWS OR LESS
  £000 £000 £000

Non derivative financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables    30,416  30,416  30,416

31 March 2020

  CARRYING CONTRACTUAL 6 MONTHS
  AMOUNT CASH FLOWS OR LESS
  £000 £000 £000

Non derivative financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables    17,811  17,811  17,811

The balance of trade and other payables shown above excludes deferred income and statutory liabilities which 
are not classified as financial instruments.

Fair values

Fair values and carrying amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities and the carrying amounts included in the Balance sheet are as 
follows:

  31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020 
  CARRYING FAIR CARRYING FAIR
  AMOUNT VALUE AMOUNT VALUE
  £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other receivables 5,015 5,015 3,827 3,827
Cash and cash equivalents 22,166 22,166 38,145 38,145
Contract assets 20,138 20,138 8,559 8,559
Trade and other payables (30,416) (30,416) (17,811) (17,811)
Derivative financial instruments 1,298 1,298  (7,126) (7,126)
  18,201 18,201 25,594 25,594

The financial instruments, noted in the table above, are all valued as level 1 fair values. The definition of a level 
1 financial instrument meets the following criteria – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.

Estimation of fair values
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values shown above:

Trade and other receivables/payables and cash and cash equivalents – the fair value of receivables and 
payables with a remaining life of less than one year, and the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, all of which 
have short term maturities, is deemed to be the same as the book values.

17. Share capital

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Allotted issued and fully paid  
5,500,002 Ordinary shares of £1 each     5,500  5,500

18. Analysis of movements in equity attributable to equity holders of David MacBrayne 
Limited

  COMMODITY 
  DERIVATIVES TAX EFFECT TOTAL
  £000 £000 £000

Cash flow hedges     
At 1 April 2020 (7,126) – (7,126)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 5,098 – 5,098
Tax relating to cash flow hedge – – –
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges reclassified to profit or loss 3,326 – 3,326
At 31 March 2021  1,298 – 1,298

The fuel hedge relates to CHFS2 contract and is placed in line with agreement with Transport Scotland.
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19. Pension arrangements
A large number of the Group’s employees are members of the CalMac Pension Fund (the ‘Scheme’ or the ‘CalMac 
Scheme’), which is a defined benefit scheme that shares risk between entities under common control. The CalMac 
Scheme is operated by Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited (CMAL), a company also wholly owned by Scottish 
Ministers. As CMAL is legally considered to be the sponsoring employer for the Scheme and is responsible for past 
deficit repair obligations in relation to the Scheme, the Company and its subsidiary undertakings who are members 
of the Scheme make contributions in accordance with an agreed schedule, and pension liability arising during the 
period of the grant is indemnified by Scottish Ministers. The Company and subsidiary undertakings account for the 
Scheme in their respective financial statements as if the Scheme was a defined contribution scheme in accordance 
with paragraph 41 of IAS 19 – Post employment benefits defined benefits plans. 

The latest full triennial actuarial valuation of the CalMac Scheme as at 6 April 2018, carried out by an independent 
actuary, showed that the scheme had liabilities of £224.7m, assets of £196.6m and, consequently, a deficit of £28.1m.

Updated information as at 31 March 2021 in relation to, inter alia, scheme deficit prepared in accordance with IAS 19 
is included in the financial statements of CMAL for the year ended 31 March 2021. The March 2021 assets/liabilities 
are detailed below:

 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Present value of funded liabilities (380,228) (316,478)
Fair value of scheme assets 335,161 248,325
Deficit (45,067) (68,153)

A number of the Group’s employees participate in one of the Merchant Navy Pension Funds which are industry-
wide defined contribution schemes. Contributions to these schemes are therefore accounted for on a defined 
contribution basis.

Certain of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings are participating employers in the Merchant Navy Officers’ Pension 
Fund (MNOPF) which is closed to new members. The Company could still be required to make contributions against 
any deficit. The actuarial valuation, which was carried out at 31 March 2018, showed a gross deficit of £73m at the 
valuation date and that the market value of the assets of £3,278m covered 98% of the value of the liabilities.

In March 2016, the MNOPF scheme closed to future accrual. Employees who were members of the scheme were 
transferred to the Ensign Retirement Plan, an industry-wide defined contribution scheme.

As the Trustees of the MNOPF are unable to identify the Group’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of 
the Scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis, the Company’s subsidiary undertakings who are participating 
employers in the MNOPF are accounting for the Scheme in their respective financial statements as if the Scheme was 
a defined contributions scheme.

Under the Government’s Pension Auto Enrolment legislation, employers must automatically enrol into a ‘qualifying 
pension scheme’ all qualifying employees not already in a pension scheme as well as all new starters. The legislation 
also dictates that those who have opted out must be reviewed and enrolled again every three years.

The Peoples Pension are the provider for a stakeholder pension scheme for auto enrolment purposes. New 
employees can still choose to opt out of this new scheme and enrol in the existing final salary scheme at appropriate 
times during the year. Employees can only be in one scheme at any given time.

The amount charged to the income statement in respect of employer contributions to Pension Schemes is:
 2021 2020

 £000 £000

CalMac Pension Fund 16,601 20,213
Ensign 138 166
Other schemes 537 655
 17,276 21,034
Contributions to be paid to pension schemes included in payables 555 459

CalMac Pension Fund includes a pension contribution of £nil in the year (2020: £4.6m).

20. Related party transactions

Identification of related parties
The following have been identified as related parties of the Group:
•  Scottish Ministers as sole shareholder of the Company
•  Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited due to common ownership by the Scottish Ministers
•  Key management personnel 

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and do not 
require to be disclosed.

During the year, Group subsidiaries entered into the following transactions with related parties who are not 
members of the Group:
 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Transactions during the year – receivable/(payable):

Scottish Ministers  
– revenue subsidy 153,233 144,207
– revenue subsidy – pension contribution – 4,646
- vessel life extension subsidy 955 –
– consultancy services 1,381 1,463

Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited 
– vessel leasing charges (15,653) (16,508)
– harbour services (9,008) (17,711)
– vessel new build, modification and other costs 7,309 6,725
– ferry travel costs 5 9

Solent Gateway Limited 
– management charge 357 661
– consortium relief      – (193)

Amounts due at end of year – receivable/(payable):

Scottish Ministers 
– revenue subsidy 20,138 8,559
– consultancy services 564 360

Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited 
– harbour services (132) (1,037)
– vessel new build, modification and other costs 1,656 1,168
– ferry travel costs 1 1

Solent Gateway Limited 
– management charge 1,796 1,796
– consortium relief      – (152)

During the year, CalMac Ferries Limited acted as agent for Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited in relation to 
certain elements of vessel upgrade and modifications. The associated funds were paid to third parties and 
recovered from Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd.

Remuneration of key management personnel
Key management personnel are defined as the Executive Directors of the Company and their remuneration is 
disclosed in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on page 57. There were no other transactions or amounts due 
at year end relating to key management personnel.
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Company Balance Sheet

Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2021

   2021 2020
  NOTE £000 £000

Fixed assets 
Tangible assets 2 601 665
Investments 3 574 574
Deferred tax 6 203 210
   1,378 1,449

Current assets 
Inventories  579 –
Debtors and prepayments 4 1,247 169
Cash and cash equivalents     6,225 11,994

   8,051 12,163
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 5 (952) (270)
Net current assets  7,099 11,893
Net assets      8,477 13,342

Capital and reserves 
Share capital 8 5,500 5,500
Profit and loss account  2,977 7,842

 

Shareholder’s funds      8,477 13,342

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on xxx 2021 on its behalf by:

D C McGibbon, Chairman D Mackison, Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Company Statement of changes in equity

  CALLED UP PROFIT AND
  SHARE LOSS TOTAL
  CAPITAL ACCOUNT EQUITY
  £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2019    5,500  6,896  12,396

Total comprehensive income for the year   
Loss for the year    –  946  946

Balance at 31 March 2020    5,500  7,842  13,342

  CALLED UP PROFIT AND
  SHARE LOSS TOTAL
  CAPITAL ACCOUNT EQUITY
  £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2020    5,500  7,842  13,342

Total comprehensive income for the year   
Profit for the year    –  135  135
Dividends paid in the year    –   (5,000)   (5,000)

Balance at 31 March 2021    5,500  2,977  8,477
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS

Notes to the FRS 101 parent company financial statements
1. Accounting policies
David MacBrayne Limited is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced 
Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”). 

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure 
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“Adopted IFRSs”), but makes 
amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where 
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the 
following disclosures:-

•  a Cash Flow Statement and related notes

•  comparative period reconciliations for tangible fixed assets

•  disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries

•  disclosure in respect of capital management

•  the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs

•  an additional balance sheet for the beginning of the earliest comparative period

•  disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

As the consolidated financial statements of David MacBrayne Limited include the equivalent disclosures, the 
Company has also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:-

•  the disclosures required by IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 regarding financial instrument disclosures have not been 
provided.

After the end of the Brexit transition period (31 December 2020) the UK ceased to be subject to EU law. Under the 
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, all existing IFRSs adopted by the EU at that time have been ‘frozen’ into 
UK law thus were considered as in force in the UK at the end of the transition period. Adoptions, interpretations 
and amendments of IFRS adopted by the EU after the end of the transition period will no longer apply in the UK. 
For subsequent financial years, companies must use UK-adopted IFRS. At the end of the transition period, those 
standards will be identical to the EU-adopted IFRS in force on that date, but subsequently the UK has established 
its own endorsement process to adopt UK-adopted IFRS, interpretations and amendments of IFRS. For the year 
ended 31 March 2021, UK companies therefore have the option to use any standards which have been adopted for 
use within the UK in addition to the frozen EU-adopted IFRS. In previous years, the Accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with FRS 101 applying the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of IFRS as 
adopted by the EU at the date of approval of the Accounts and which were mandatory for each financial year. In 
line with the above, the Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been prepared in accordance with FRS 
101 applying the ‘frozen’ IFRS as adopted by the EU in accordance with the International Accounting Standards 
and European Public Limited-Liability Company (Amendment etc.) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019. The Accounts 
for financial year beginning 1 April 2021, will be prepared in accordance with FRS 101 applying the recognition, 
measurement and disclosure requirements of IFRS as adopted by the UK. The changes in the way that IFRS are 
described as a result of the UK’s exit from the EU, including the move to UK adopted IFRS for accounting periods 
starting on or after 1 April 2021, do not represent a change in the basis of preparation which would necessitate a 
prior year restatement.

(a) Basis of preparation
These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced 
Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”). In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, 
measurement and disclosure requirements of international accounting standards in conformity with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 [(“Adopted IFRSs”)], but makes amendments where necessary in 
order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure 
exemptions has been taken.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the parent company’s profit and loss account has not 
been included in these financial statements.

Going concern
The Company has recorded a profit after tax in the current financial year and the Company’s balance sheet shows 
that it has net current assets of £7.1m as at 31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2020, the financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis, which the Directors consider to be appropriate for the following reasons.

For the purposes of the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s going concern position and to satisfy them 
of the Company’s ability to pay its liabilities as they fall due, the Directors have prepared a company cash flow 
statement for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. The cash flow 
forecasts indicate that, after taking account of severe but plausible downsides including the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the Company’s existing resources are sufficient to enable it to trade and pay its liabilities as 
they fall due for the forecast period.

Consequently, the Directors are confident that the Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its 
liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore 
have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

(b) Fixed assets
Fixed asset investments represent interests in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures which are carried at 
historical cost. 

(c) Tangible fixed assets
Gross book values of tangible assets are stated at revalued amount as per revaluation on 24 March 2020. 
No depreciation is charged until an asset is brought into use. Depreciation is provided by equal instalments 
calculated to write off the cost (taking account of estimated residual values) over their useful lives as follows:

  Ships  –  30 years

(d) Impairment excluding inventories and deferred tax assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment; if any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. The recoverable amount 
is the greater of their fair values less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group  
of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups 
of assets.
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Financial instruments 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial 
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability 
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing 
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets

(a) Classification
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) - debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its 
business model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first 
day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:

•  it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

•  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at 
FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL 
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Investments in joint ventures and subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held with the bank.

(b) Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial assets at FVTPL - these assets (other than derivatives designated as hedging instruments) are 
subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost - these assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in 
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following 
two conditions:

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or 
to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the Company; and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-
derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is 
a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a 
fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where 
the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these 
financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those 
shares.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified at 
FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, 
are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Impairment
The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, debt investments measured at FVOCI and contract assets (as defined in IFRS 15).

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for other debt securities 
and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial 
instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition, which are measured as twelve-month ECL.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, 
based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking 
information.

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days 
past due.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

•  the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to 
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

•  the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument.

Twelve-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the twelve 
months after the reporting date, or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than twelve 
months.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the 
Company is exposed to credit risk.
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Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all 
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.) ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the 
financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt 
securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Write-offs
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery.

(e) Operating leases
When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an 
operating lease. To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, 
then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Company 
considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term as part of ‘other revenue’.

(f) Dividends
Where circumstances permit, a dividend is payable annually to the Company by each of the main operating 
companies. The quantum of the dividend is dependent on the estimated profit which is expected to be achieved 
for the financial year and the cash position of each company. Dividends are included in the financial statements 
as a liability/receivable only after they have been declared by the Board of the relevant company.

2. Tangible assets

 SHIPS
 £000

Cost 
At 1 April 2020 2,561
 2,561

Depreciation 
At 1 April 2020 1,896
Charge for the year 64
At 31 March 2021 1,960
Net book value at 31 March 2021 601
Net book value at 31 March 2020 665

David MacBrayne Limited assets are in relation to two vessels owned and leased to CalMac Ferries Limited.

3. Investments 

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Shares in subsidiary undertakings     74  74
Investment in joint venture     500  500
      574  574

The Company owns the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of its subsidiary undertakings CalMac Ferries 
Limited, NorthLink Ferries Limited, Argyll Ferries Limited and David MacBrayne HR (UK) Limited, all of which are 
incorporated in Scotland. Registered office address: The Ferry Terminal, Gourock, PA19 1QP.

CalMac Ferries Limited operates the Clyde and Hebrides ferry services, Argyll Ferries Limited operated the 
Gourock - Dunoon ferry service until 20 January 2019 when it was transferred to CalMac Ferries Limited and 
David MacBrayne HR (UK) Limited provides human resource services to the companies within the Group.

CalMac Ferries Limited owns the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of Caledonian MacBrayne Crewing 
(Guernsey) Limited, which administers its offshore crewing arrangements. NorthLink Ferries Limited owns the 
whole of the issued ordinary share capital of NorthLink Crewing (Guernsey) Limited which administered its 
offshore crewing arrangements. Both of these companies are incorporated in Guernsey. Registered office address: 
PO Box 287, 4th Floor, West Wing, Trafalgar Court, Admiral Park, St. Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3RL.

The Company owns the whole of the issued share capital of three other companies, all are incorporated in 
Scotland and currently non-trading. The companies are NorthLink Ferries Limited, Cowal Ferries Limited and 
Rathlin Ferries Limited. Registered office address, The Ferry Terminal, Gourock, PA19 1QP.

The Company also own 50% of the issued share capital of Solent Gateway Limited. Registered office address: 
Meridean House, Alexandra Dock North, Grimsby, DN31 3UA. The joint venture will operate the port at Marchwood 
under a 35 year contract with the Ministry of Defence.

4. Inventories 

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Consumable stores       579  –
      579 –

5. Debtors and prepayments

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Other debtors      1,104  41
Amounts due from subsidiaries     143  128
      1,247  169

6. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Trade creditors      73  37
Other creditors and accruals     133  233
Corporation tax       22  -
Deferred Income      724 –
      952  270
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7. Deferred tax
The main components of deferred tax at 19% (2020: 19%) are:

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 ASSETS ASSETS NET ASSETS
 2021 2020 2021 2020
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Tangible fixed assets  202 209 202 209
Other 1 1 1 1
Net assets  203 210 203 210

Movement in deferred tax during the year
  1 APRIL  RECOGNISED 31 MARCH
  2020 IN INCOME 2021
  £000 £000 3000 

Tangible fixed assets   209 (7) 202
Other  1 - 1
  210 (7) 203

Movement in deferred tax during the prior year
 1 APRIL RECOGNISED 31 MARCH
 2019 IN INCOME 2020
 £000 £000 £000 

Tangible fixed assets  186 23 209
Other 3 (2) 1
 189 21 210

8. Leases as lessor
During the year, £280,000 (2020: £275,000) was recognised as rental income by the Company in respect of 
vessel leases between David MacBrayne Limited and CalMac Ferries Limited.

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments to be received, showing the undiscounted lease 
payments to be received after the reporting date:

Operating leases under IFRS 16

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Less than 1 year   291 283
Between 1 and 2 years   299 291
Between 2 and 3 years   308 299
Between 3 and 4 years   159 308
Between 4 and 5 years   – 159
More than 5 years   – –

9. Share capital 

   2021 2020
   £000 £000

Allotted issued and fully paid  
5,500,002 Ordinary shares of £1 each     5,500  5,500

10. Ultimate controlling party
The Company is wholly-owned by the Scottish Ministers, who are regarded as the ultimate controlling party. 
The only Group in which the results of this Company are consolidated, is this set of financial statements. The 
Company’s related undertakings are its subsidiaries and joint venture as disclosed in note 3.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate information
Parent company
Registered office   The Ferry Terminal
     Gourock
     PA19 1QP

Principal Group advisors
Auditor    KPMG LLP

Solicitor    Pinsent Masons

Banker    The Royal Bank of Scotland plc

Insurers    The North of England Protecting & Indemnity Association

Websites   www.david-macbrayne.co.uk

     www.CalMac.co.uk
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